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TO MY FATHER, JOSEPH GAUTHIER, 1915 (7))

Christmas is a time of many thi

Taq 4
-

ngs: nappiness and the laughte
of anticipation...bu b

‘emembering.

-"'L.

Today. as we drive over highways and freeways - swift miles in
minutes to return home laden with gifts for our loved ones. ny
thoughts take me back many years.

I have cherished Robert Frost's beautiful poem. "Stopping By
Woods on a Snowy Evening’ since my f£first reading of it:

"The woods are lovely, cark and cdeep. but I have

promises to Keep - and miles to go before I sleep.”
It has been given many interpretations. dut I have my own - it is
a2 Christmas word picture and always recalls my first remembered
™1 - -+ -
Christmas.

My Father was & French Canadian. born in Three Rivers. Juebec.
HZis was a large family and his Mother cdied when he was very young.
I do not believe he ever knew Christmas as &z child, because when he
became a man. ne so loved all it stood for: as people love freecdom
who have been denied It.

Ze was twenty-five when he left Canadza and came to Wisconsin
to log, and also to finally learn to speak English - though always

retaining his beautiful French accent. so that I hear his voice
again when Maurice Chavilier speaks.

Ze was & timber cruiser, & logger. & sawmill man. Not large -

I grew up to be as tall - bDut in the woods and on the trail. in
speec and endurance, ne was & giant and could out distance any man.
Anc =z=lways ne followed the tall <trees - Quebec., Wisconsin,
Zoulisiana. Washington and finally back to Canada. The great pine
forest of Alberta drew nim and he took his family into the Peace
River Countrvy.

There were freeways that were truly free in that long ago.
Great roads that crossecd and re—crossed the land. and the only cost
for a2 man to ride them were his own courage and his skill. They
were the Rivers. Rivers that first knew only the Indian and his

birch canoe or log dugout. but as more and more men poured into
this land so rich in timber. the great paddle wheel steamer came.

The towns were named for what they truly were. Landings'!
Mirror and Athabasca. So along the Athabasca River my Father built
his sawmill and a log house for his family. Finally the railroads
came. Oh, they were close to the mill - only five miles away! The
Rivers continued to carry the logs to the great booms that held
them for the mill, but man came to depend on the rails for his link
with civilization.



, This particular winter was a heavy one. Deep swows and the
trains could not run. The mill shut down till spring. but my
parents staved on - warm and secure in the log house Sverything
they neecded for existence zané comfort was there.

2ut the Christmas presents were in Athabasca Landing. fifty

miles away.

December passed and it became January. I do not remember when
my Father left the house one day. We were small children. but we
woke one morning to the sound of his deep voice and heard the oy
in my Mother's as she said. "It's Christmas morning!". Ancé it
truly was. I can't recall the presents as much as & man could pack

on his back. (I'm sure a doll. whose head was soon broken - small

brothers were so hard on doll heads). But the memory of the love
that carried my Father through the long and lonely night along that
frozen river has been and will be with me always.

The cdancers were very real - z man could not stop and rest
The cold was there - waiting to creep in and numb his body and his
} nTtil he slept and never woke zgain. And there were timber
ses. 2nc let me tell you - nothing Hitchcock has ever presented

s spine chilling as a timber wolf howling on a winter night.
hev Low; because they starve and food is where they find it. be it
man or beast. (The corner behind the wood stove was my refuge when
the wolves howled). Beauty was there. too. The stars so close.
and the trees so black against the snow. The great smooth flow of
the frozen river - motion suspended. And over and above zl1ll, the
Northern Lights. Maybe one couléd not really hear them. bdDut I
remember we zlways said we could.

Times and places change. but not people. Our roads today are
no longer water or ice, but rivers of steel and concrete that flow
across the land.

at tl 1 Tl arri X hrist Birth : a fro: I
2ut the love that carries the Christ 2irth message from one
generation to the next burns as bright and warm today. in heart

everywhere. as it did for my Father.
"For I have promises to kKeep. and miles to go before I sleep.
and miles to go before I sleep..."

Renee Gauthier Movs
- 1966 -
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An Interview with Mrs. Alice B. Donahue
by Vi Fowalohubk

Well, we'll begin with a bit of family history, Mrs.
Donahue.  Dooyouw want to give your full name and address?
Yes, my name is Alice Blanche Donahue.
Go ahead.  Tell us where you were born.
And I was born at Hed Willow, Alberta. My father was James
Alexander Baird. He was a farmer and my mother was Martha
Ann Steetson, a postmistress. And ouwr family background is
Suottish and  Irish, mostly Scottish. I first ocame to
Athabasca in August of 1937, which will soon be fifty years.
My goodness, 1s that right?
Now before coming to Athabasca 1 was teaching at New Novrway.
I went there in 1930 and taught there from 1930 to 1937. I
was marvied in 1937 and we came to Athabasca because my

hushband was working in the Creamery.

So that was youwr reason for  coming to Athabasca. Where did
your meet your husband®

It was in Mew Norway.

That isn't where he came from though was 1t7

Noy, ke came from Manitoba., He was a graduate of the dairy
department...the Dairvy, what would you call it, Faculty of

Manitoba. Manitoba Agricultural College.

S really your decision was made by the fact that you got
maryied.

That?s riaght.
Do oyou vemember anything about your trip to Athabasca™

Well yes. I thought T was going to the end of the world,

Mo cloubt .

Feally. It was all right wuntil I got as far as Clyde and
whern I got to Clyde all these trees began to olose in on me.
I just thought I couldn’t breathe. Sort of  like the

mountains.

Yeu.,
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And of course it was very, very much more closed in than it
is Nnow.

But you came vight into town.

Fight to Athabasca and owr first home was a log house vight
beside the Creamery which was steam heated, fully modern.

What kind of appliances and modernization did you  have
there?

Ok, radio and you know  vacuum oleaner, washing machine, all
the conveniences.

Goode  ALL right, you had no indoor toilets.
Ny rr,

Mot in that time, no.

Nz the toilets were all outside.

oo your water supply™

The water supply came from the...they had water in  town but
P SEWArE .

And your heating was?
Well we were steam heat from  the Ureamery but  the heating
here in town was mostly by wood and  the long barrel-type

stoves.

Lighting. Well you didn't have electric lights then did
yiou? Was there electric lights already?

Yes we had electric lights supplied by the Creamery.

Again supplied by the Creamery.

It was the Light % Power, Athabasca Light % Power.

Oh sure.

You remember that.

Well no, but I guess that was the first, yves. So, would you

like to describe your house a little movre? What else can
yvou tell us about youwr house, your furniture?
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Well, it was a two-bedroom house and it had a large
livingroom, and dining room, kRitchen. The kitchen was
built...the log house faced north and then there was a sort
of back, like it was L-shaped and the sun shone in from the
east and from the west into the kitohen.

It was really beautiful there for you.

Yes and very ocomfortable. And  furniture, well it was all
new furniture of course.

You were newly married.

Yes, chesterfield and you kEnow bedroom suite, dining voom
suite.

Did you 69 your Things. .. 7

Irn Edmonton.

And brought them with you.

And browght them out, ves.

You had a telephone, no doubt.
Yes.

The telephone...the numbering system was different in those
days wasn't it?

Yes, [ think ow  number was 26 or 15, I’'m onot just  sure.
The Ereameq‘was ORE .

It was a two number...
And we...the phone rang.  You had to ring.

FBight, it wasn’t...Did Mr. Donahue have a car?

Yes.
Can you describe it? Tell us a little about the car?
Well the car was...It was a Chevrolet, or a Ford, I'm not

Just sure. I had a Ford before, myself.
Oh, you did?

One with a rumble seat, yes. But anyway, it was a Ford I
think.
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Ok, Did you have a radio in the house? I suppose you did.
Yes.

A radio set. No television of course.

Ol noy, no television then.

No, not £il later. All right, we’ll just go back a little

bit and if you could tell us something about school  as a
child, where you attended school and...

Oh, I attended...when I started to school I went to a rural
school  and it was called the Red Willow School. Now that
school was  built right in my agrandfather’s farm. My

grandfather’s farm was just five miles from what Red Willow
is today and you  see there is no railroad and so they had
settled there and they had their homesteads. In the corner
of his farm there was a store and a post office and a mill,
and a blacksmith shop and & school.

Did he donate the land for the school and for these...™

Well it all moved from there then, all the store. Yes, I'm
sure that he....

Frobably did...

I don?t think they donated it, they just built there.
Feally.

The school was a one-voom school .

Of course.  And you attended what one to...?

One to eight.

And then where did you take your high school?

Well in the meantime we had moved. You see we left, yes.
o we went  in the one-room school til  about grade....well,

grade seven.

Could  you tell uwus anything about lessons or  teachers?
Anything that stands out in your mind?

I remember my first teacher was Miss Watt and owr first
Superintendent was...oh nos..my first superintendent when I
started to teach was the superintendent I had when I started
sohool .
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He was a friend of the family’s.

For heaven'’s sakes. That made it a little nicer.

Yes., And of ocourse we used the old Alexander Reader. We
had reading and arithmetic and citizenship and social
studies, not social studies, nature study. Health,

geography, history.
Well. You taught all the subjects.
Each one separately.

Each one separately. How did you travel to school in those
days™

Well I was right beside the school...walked.
Of couwse  you  were  right beside w0 you  just walked
automatically. Students. How  many students would  have

attended the school then™

I suppose  there would be  about twenty. I think about
twenty—-five., Twenty to twenty-five.

Any special memories of your school days?

Oh ves. It was a real ewperience to start to school.  The
first thing T did I got head lice.

Dear me.

I was told apparently there was head lice in the school and
my mother had told me  Ynow don®t put anyone else’s cap  on”
or anything else like this but you know a kid. MNMext thing I
krnew I had head lice.

And how did you cope with that?

And the unfortunate part was my teacher was going with my
uncle, so that wasn't a very happy situation.

What did they do in those days for head lice?
Ferosens.

Ferosene, 1t was kerosene. I think you probably ran into
head lice when you got to Athabasca.

Oh many times after.
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Yes. And bed bugs. But we didn't have anything like that.
This was just head lice. One family in the district that
had it.

Giosh it's always usually that way, isn’t it?  And then they
spread it. Isn't that right? I remember those kind of
things happening when I was teaching. Well, any other
sohoal memories that youw would like to mention®

Well T can remember the fun at recess. In the winter time
we played "fox and geese" and that was really a lot of fun.
We played baseball in the summer.

Yes, yves. Baseball.

And T remember in school I loved reading.  Then we had a lot
of memory work.

Yes, in those days. That's right. Not like we are today.
Alright, where did you take your teacher training and could
you tell us when™

Camrose in 1925-26.

Your had  normal school. That was what they called the
Novrmal Sohool .

Mormal School, rvight.
Can you give us the year?
1925-26.

You said 1926, rvight. Alright, what where course of studies
like in those days for teachers and how long did youw atbend?

We attended ten months.

Ten months then. And of course  after that first year you
were out teaching.

Out teaching, that’s vight. You had to go to suwmmer school,
at least they recommend that you go to summer school.

Following that.
The salaries were %1000 a vear for ten months and then we

were expected to go to summer school  besides.  Save enough
morney to go to summer sochool.,
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I got ahead of my story there.

That’s all right. Where did you  live when vyou went  to
Camrose’

I boarded with a private family.

How did you happen...? How did they pick the families™ How
cicd you come by...?

Well yvou had  to send...When you registered you had to get
the list from the Principal and he gave youw a list of homes
and we could not go to public dances. I"m telling you that
was something.

They were gquite strict hey?

Very strict.

Who set these rules down?  The Camrose Bohool™

The Camvrose Normal Sohool.

The Mormal School.

The principal.

Can you think of any others they said you must not do?

Well, we ocouldn?t go boo any public dances and (or-3
couldn’t...we really weren’t allowed to associated with the
town people.  That is, too muach. That is, the young people
because there were lobts of boys and girls there of course

that were at.oa..

What was the reason  do you think? Did  they expect the
teacher to just have some type of higher morals  than

everyone else, Or....?
Well I suppose, but the trouble was there that some kids,
some students had gone there the year and two or three vears
prior  to that and there had been some wild goings on. And
some very serious problems. and T think that they just
decided that....

That was that.

That was that.

They were going to watoch you.
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There were some hockey plavers., There were guite a number
of  hockey players there. The Hanson boys,  and of course
they were.... girls were veally very...
Impressed by them. ..
Impressed by those chaps and things, so...There were lots of
romances then. I think that was the reason.  And our  danoce
started at nine o'clock and ended at eleven.

Very short, eh?

Lots of excuses to go to the library to study at night so we
condlad walk home witho.oo.o with the boyfriends.

What were some of your courses there?
We took English literature, art, and cooking, and sewing.
Cookdng™

Fight. Miss Hasty taught that. and history, geography,
nature study.

Again nature study. Tan't  that something. Of course I
suppose that...

Oh nature study was...
Big thing then...
Big thing.

And of course you  were expected to teach 1t when you  ocame
out so this is why they had it.

And phys. ed.

And  phys. ed. S anything outstanding as far  as your
university was concerned?

Well you mean the Mormal School.

The Mormal School.  Other than the strict rules they had.
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Well we didn’t notice them as being strict. There were 300
of  us, s0 we were very happy and  they all boarded around.
Mow right back...we looked out the front door on this house
that had a great big back verandah upstairs. We called them
the dirty dozen, these boys and they used to sit out  there
and play poker at night. Far into the night, you know, and
s bthere was lots of  activity among  the Normal  students
themselves. S0 they weren’t too anxious to meelb up with the
town people.

You had a little community of your own more or less.

That's right.

0f those 300, what percentage would yvou say were males?

Five, six.

There weren't that many men in  those days going into
education.

Moy T would say there wouldn’t be more than seventy-five
e

0f the 300.

Of the 300. I"ve got the Normal School book.  The pictures
of them all.

Have you? Ok gosh, that's good.  Alvight, did they give you
any pedagogical training? Did they try to teach you how  to
teach?

Well of course we had to do practice teaching.

Tell us about that.

And Jack Appleby was one of the teachers.

Was he™

Well  he wasn't there when I was  there, but Jack was in the
practice school.

Is that right?
And yvouw bhad to go down and teach a lesson for them.
Well. And you diden®t take...did you take anything like...

Anything from one to eight.
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One to eight. That was your certificate for one to eight.
My, from one to eleven.

One to eleven.

But we didn’t do any practice teaching in the high school.
What was your lesson that you had to practice teach?

Oh I had to teach one lesson on the difference between a
mountain and a hill. And another one was 1 had to teach the
different breeds of chickens.

Well. That is different.

That was agriculture. Bo then I had a lesson in math. Hadl
to teach some multiplication.

And so who gave you...Did  they grade youw... D suppose this
teacher...”

The professor.
The professor was theve.

He was  there plus the teacher. And  you had o keep
discipline, you know, there was no way that...

Of course, everything was up to you.

I remember when I was teaching this lesson on chickens, you
know, at...coming  from the farm T didn®t kEnow much  about
different breeds of chickens but I had studied it so it came
kind of easy to me and these bovs were tryving to catch  me
and they were asking me all these different guestions.
Alvight, you didn?t take any course like psychology®

Yes, we had psychology.  Dr. Sanson btaught us psychology.
Boociology™

Yeu.

Those kinds of things were there.

And that was all crammed in the ten months.

fuite a full program. Right. How long would youwr day have
been™
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Well it would have been from nine to four.
Fight., Five days a week.

Saturdays and Sundays free.

and they had the library rvight within the ...7%

The library, everybthing was right in the Normal school.

Everyvthing you needed to have there.

oo when you went  up to the Normal  school all your classes
were bthere and everybthing.

Fight. Did you do any observation of students?
Oh yves, we had four wesks of that.
Four weeks of that?  And how mach. .. ?

And four weeks of practice teaching. Oh yes, we observed
the classes.

S that really...that was about eight months of actual study
and  btwo months of observation and  teaching. B how many
vears did you have of teaching then, of teaching experience,
before you came to Athabasca?

Ohy T was fouwr years at Fed Willow and seven years at  New
Norway. Eleven yvears.

Eleven years of experience. So once you got  marvied that
didn®t, you didn’t stop teaching. You continued on.

I resigned at New Norway but I came up here and Mr. Kostash
came to see me and came to see 1 D would go...

He was the Supevintendent.

The SBuperintendent, rvight. To see 1f I would go out west to
teach.

Alright, so where was your first school then™
Oy you mean the fivst school that T...
Here in Athabasca.

Fairhaven. Fairhaven was the first. I went out...
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Your talked about going out west.

Well mno.  He wanted me to go out west. a&nd apparently the
people  oubt there were very hard to please and I thought,
well, I haven't had any problems in my eleven years and I7m
mot going to ogo out and ask for it Go I did subbing here
in town, and then I went out to Poplar Grove.

Where was that?

That was Grassland. I taught Don Course.

Fight. Don Course.  The famous, slightly famous, eh, shall
we say’

That's right, slightly famous Don Course.  aAnd I taught out
there ten days.

Did you?

And I only went out there because Fairhaven school was a
one-room school and the envolment  was so heavy that  they
turned  the coal  shed into  the senior voom. Amelia went
there. And I had the big olassroom and Al fred Gorman had

seven, ight, nine, ten and eleven.

My goodness, what was the tobtal population there then at...?
How many students did you have?

Well I had about forty.

Just from grade one to six and he had the rest of them.

He had the rest of them. I was there four vears.

So Mr. Eostash, the Superintendent, actually hired you. It
was, of course, Athabasca School Division, not the County.
Mot even a school division.

Nz, . It was just the Fairhaven BSochool District and they
couldntt pay you. When I went out to Grassland, they hadn®t |

paid the teachers there for four years. Bo [ wasn®t paid
when I was the ten days there and then I came in and 1 went

out to Faivhaven and at  Christmas ftime T got $25, And T
gaid to Al fred Gorman, I said "You know we got a bonus,
gaEwm "RBonus, " he said, "That’s all youlre going o getb.”

And it was!
Did you ever get paid for being at Grassland?

Oh, later.
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Eventually.

Cliff  had to pay...I  was out there two months., I boarded
and he had to pay my board.

Wow. For heaven’s sakes.

So it was really something.

I guess. How did you get out there?

Walked out.

You wal ked every day?

I boarded first and then after a bit...

Whe did youw board with, exouse me?

Oy Mrs. Davidson, FEoger Davidson®s.

I see.

And those people would not get up in the morning! I used to
run to school because I mean I wanted to be af school ahead
of the ochildren.

So owere they farm people then, the Davidsons™

Oh yes, they were all farm people.

How far away were they?

A omile. They lived....

Mow, I'm just trying to think of where they would have
lLived.,

Well I think there was a Webb lived there after. He had a
trailer. Their house burned down.

Webb, eh? Which divection from Faivhaven school™

West.,. A mile west and...well, guite close to Devliin's.

Oh, that’s the one. Yes, I know Devliin’s., Wouldn’t that be
movy e bthan  a mile from Fairbhaven™? Yo would cross country,

did yvou or what?

Mo, no.s I mean we were back this way. [ said it was north.
Come up to that vroad that Devliin's were on.

O yes, [ see.
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We didn’t get paid until when the County, when the Division
took over. Thern they asked us if we would take it all in
crre Lump S

Your back pay?

Our back pay with a percentage cut. Well see, our salary
was $840, with a 1& 2/3 percent cut.

Mow when you say $840, yvouw're saying 840 dollars a year.

A yvear. With a 16 2/3 percent cut. And then they asked us
if we would....they would give us ouwr  money, the back pay,
if we would take a discount. And I said, "No, I waited this
long. I711 wait for the rest of it." So I did. It took
about five years.,

It took that long!

Till I got paid. Well there were so many obther teachers
that had to be paid.

When did this school...when did the school division...when
was it formed?

It was formed in about 1940, 39 or 40, Because when I came
into  Athabasca to teach I was not  in the Division.
Athabasca town was alone.

Did the school yvear begin in September™

September .

September lst.

And went to June.

The end of June.

And usually starts September lst. And we had to put in 210
days.

Two hundred  ten. How long a Christmas holiday did you have
then?

From about the 23rd to the Znd of January.
And Easter was?

It was from Good Friday to the following week.
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Well, your school day began at 9:00, no doubt, and ended at
S 30, In those days. And, of course, life was pretty

difficult. You had  to do all sorts of things like keep
registers and...

And you had to keep the fire going.
Feep the fire....Who did the janitor work?

Well the janitor work was done by a Byrtus boy, but we used
to arrvive at the school....

Mike Byrtus, or .....

Nz, Joe Byrtus’s. We used to arrvive at  school about  the
time that the janitor was arrviving.

Fot belly stove?

Fot belly stove and so they'd bring in these big logs and 1

had never seen logs like that but I had to learn to "fire
up . "

Five up. Isn’t that something. Usuwally they had a fellow
in the community that would take on the job of bringing in

the wood for the yvear’s supply.

Oh ves.

Would somebody have a kind of a contract or something?

I think there was someons who  brought the wood, but then
this boy would bring the wood in in the morning and then you
Just used what was there.

Winters were bad? Do you remember that first winter?

Oh, the winters were cold. Cold. I vremember walking out
there when it was 60...1t went from &0-64 below and the only

peaple at school was the Richards and the Gormans.

Feally. Can  you name  obther families while we're at it?
Richards, GOrmansS....

DeFords, Forteous, well then the Byrtus's, two families of
Byrtus’s and LaPortes.

Fight, LaFortes.
Richards.

Who else would have been there?
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Oh, Overholts and Devliins.
And Devlins.
And Davidsons.
Fight.
And that would be the...those were the only families.

Fight. The Fairhaven people had mainly, what, English-
speaking people, eh?

I think they were mostly English.

There were no BEUuropeans.

There was mno problem, you Enow. ..

The Gormans, Mrs. Gorman wasn’t teaching then at that time?

Yes she went to teach at  Big Coulee and  taught you didn’t
she?

Yes, but that would have been later.
That was in the war years when they couldn’t get teachers.

Fight. PBecause before she came I think Mrs. Day, Chloe Day
was teaching. Well when my sister went it was Miss Moore, I
CUESSS. That would be earlier, so. Alvight, so, ocan you
tell us about your school day?

The school day™

The school day.

Well school was called...you know the bell rang.

Now you have the little old bell, didn’t you? No buzzers.

Yes, the little old bell and you rang that bell and you
marched. ..ot them into  the school and then you, of course,
you saluted the flag and repeated the Lord’s FPrayer. And
then you had, for the higher grades fthey had math...rapid
cal. And for  the little ones, the younger ones, we had
reading. And  then 1t was just, right about, then after
Fecess Was...the big ones had the English and the little
ones had the math.,

Switohed around. ..
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And then the afternoon was always,  you know, geography,
history, you know...alternate. But the little ones always
had citizenship and health and nature study.

Fight. You had to say "let's put  out the nails and let’s
check  the nails, and have you got  a handkerchief this
movning, and have you brushed your teeth?!

Oh. REight.
That was a ritual.

When I first came out  of Normal School...this  is going
back...when I first came out of Normal School, you see we
were taught the evils of tobacoo and the evils of drinking.
And  so, and we were supposed to weigh all the children when
they came to  school, Take theivr height and everything.
Well! You can imagine, that took all of one day practically
to get that done. We got that done and I'm teaching, when
it came to this health, I'm teaching the evils of tobacoo,
you know, and  how, you know,  the growth would be stunted.
This little guy gobt up and said, "My grandfather’s 90 some
vears old and there's nothing wrong with him.”  Well. From
then on I didn’t say anything about the evils of tobacoo or
drinking because what did...well, these kids knew more about
it than I did.

Well right.

I was very naive about that.

Sooyou planned your own timetable. You selt  up your  awn
timetable.

Owrn timetable, yes. I think I've still got some of my first
timetables.

Have you really? Don't throw them away.
I wouldn?t.

We might want to copy some of them.

Right.
How  did you manage the school? What would, would you have
the older children given their lessons  and let  them work

while you talk to the younger ones, OF ...

Tell us about that because that’s interesting to juggle all
those grade and to keep everybody busy, Mrs. Donahue.
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Well, you had to have the se-...you know, you knew what the
lesson was...that the...the lessons they were going to have
o you had a series  of guestions that they had to  find the
answers to. We didn't always have too many books.

I was going to ask you about  textbooks. There were very
few.

Very very few textbooks.

You probably  had a globe, and a few textbooks and chalk and
rulers. The blackboard and...

Now down at New Novrway and at Red Willow, see, then when I
started to teach I taught at home.

Fight.
And the schools were well equipped.

Well equipped. Much more so.  They were more advanced  than
we were here probably then in the northern part of Alberta.

Yes, Well of course it had been sebtled much longer.

OFf course, of course. That’s true. But it took a bit  of
Jugoling didn®t it I remember when I first started
teaching I had grades one to eight or nine and, you know, to
prepare lessons and to keep everybody busy.

Feep everybody busy.

It was gquite a thing.

But you didn?t have too many in a grade.

Noe  Threse or four or five.

You might only  have two  in one grade  and  they seemed
T e« bhey would get & book or, you  know, if they finished.
We never seemed to have them. ...

The discipline problem, eh?

Mo discipline problem and they were never bored.

FRight. They were so0 anxious to learn I think., Yes, it was
a whole different...attitude.

Ohy, a different ball of wax now. O ves, they were really
anxious  to learn. And we were just as anwious  to teach
them.
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That’s right.
You kEnow, there was just so much enthusiasm.

They were @ager. Thatts for sure. Alvight, the school
inspector, you said, was Fostash.

Here, here, ves.
S0 he was...how long did he..o?

He left here...he wasn't here too long. Just about a vear
after I came.

I that all? How many wvisits would he make a year to the
Tl S T D) S

ne.

One a year. Dear me. Do oyow vemember anything  of the
sobool board?

Well we didn't see much of the school boarvd because. ..
You didn®t, eh?
Mot here.  Bub, yvou know, at home...yes.

But they were organized. They did have school boards then
did they?

Oh yes, there were school boards. Gylvia DeFord was on the
soboonl board and Lawrence Devlin. Aand Mr.  Davidson, I
think, was the other one.

Is  that right? T rvemember name for some reason. I ool
remember that., What...so they didn’t  really interfere with
your teaching then. Yo bad very little contact with the

school board.
Ok o You had no contact with them.

At all. What kind of decisions were they expected o make |
at that time then...of the running of...as far as....?

They just hired the teacher and then she had to do it.
And that was 1it7T S0 how long were you at Fairvhaven™

Fiour years.
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Four vears. And all that fime...you dida’t board  out all
that time.

Mo, no. T boarded out the firvst two months.
The first ftwo months only.

And then the Richard’s kids asked me, "Why don’t  you.s.." it
was a Friday night, "Why don’t youw come  home with  ws and
walk into town?" I said, "Walk? Where do you live®"  and
they told me where they lived., And then they told me that
their brothers Stan and Bill walked to  school. And T
thought well i they can walk to school, why can?t I walk.
If they're walking that way, I can walk this way. Go 1
started and I walked. And I would walk out across the golf
course and up the hill to Richards.

Wilderness. Wasn't it wilderness?

Wilderness is vight.

And you werentt afraid?

Well, I didn?’t know enough to be afraid.

I suppose, eh? Never even thought about a....

Mever thought about a bear. Well, we didn’t have bears at
hiome and why would I think there was any bears.

Did yvou have any wild escapades walking back and forth?

N The only time that I saw  an animal was  this little
brown thing and it looked like a muskrat. And I sort of
stomped my foob at it. I thought it would run and 1t
didn’t. It just chattered right back at wme. It was a
wioesco b k.

Woodohuok, ves.,

You know,  one of the experiences was...l was coming in the
spring of the year when the water was, you know, melting.
The snow  was melbting and it had run down  this old  road.
There used to be a road strailght out across the golf course
anc this boy was riding his horse into btown and his  horse
fell into.s..it wore the earth  away uwuntil  there was a
holes . cand the horse fell in the hole. I came along. I was
s upset.  This poor horse was in bthere and T was on my way
home., So..and be was crying. And do you know who it was™

N
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Fojowski.  Fete Rojowski. And he was telling me about, you
know, that his father was dead and his mother...there was
Jjust his mother and his brother and his sister.

All the children, yes.
I felt so sorvy for him.

What was he doing? What was he going to town and coming
bhack?

He was coming...going to town to get groceries and the horse
fell in. I think they had to kill the horse. And there
were Some mer. .. the men had arrived...you know, to help him
get it out. And I stood there and I watched all that, you
see. And then I went home. And I told Cliffo...

Was he the boy she’s speaking of? How old  would he have
been?

He!'d be about twelve yvears old.

My goodness. He lived quite a number of miles further
north. In fact, he was a neighbouwr  of ours and we 1lived,
what would that be, about...at least twenty miles out  of
town.  Beyond that., I'm interested to hear about your ball
games and youwr concerts and all these things. Track meets.
What...tell us what kind of extracirvicular things you did.
Well we always had a Christmas concert.

Fight.

And  at Fairhaven we had them...we had the concert in the
main part of the school, and then the back part, where
Al fred had, was the senior room, and that’s where they would
dress and wndress. And we built a ladder up so that the
kids could come up the ladder and go through the window and
ot the stage.

My goodness.

NMow that’s how we put on ouwr Christmas concerts.

Now somebody in the community no doubt built you a stage.

Al fred.

Specially for that occasion.

Yesm, that's right.
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Fior the Uhristmas concert.  You had SBanta Claus.

Santa Dlaus, treats. Bought a gift for every kid.

You did?

Yes, yes.

Did you really?

Always went in...we’d go into Woolworth?s  and youw'd  get
Aww e you know,  you could gooaround and piliock up anything you
wanted and put it in this basket and then take it to them,

and they would wrap it for you and yould pay for 1t.

For  heaven's sakes. Someonse  in the community was Santa
Claus™

Yes.

Interesting. Where did you...where did you find ideas for
youy concer s’

Oh, we had books.,

You did have books made up that had plays and. ..

Well in those days you could  send away and get these plays
and Christmas concerts. I gave a lot of mine to Mrs. Farker
after I came here. And in this book there would be a book

of drills, a book of plays, a book of recitations.

Right. You always had to have a little of each, didn't you?
And every child in the room had to per form.

Fight. Costumes. Who did the costuming for you®

The parents.

The parents. Right. Orepe paper, a lot of crepe paper.

Ol yes, lots of crepe papsr.

The parents actually co-operated very well didn®t they?

Ol yes.

ool about those  kinds of  things.

They were really guite go
esent then, at Christmas from  the

Well did you get a pr
students™



ARD:

Vi

ARD:

Vs

ARD:

Vi s

ARD:

Vi

ABD:

Vs

ABD:

ARD:

Vi

ARD:

VE s

ABD:

2]
0

Oh yes, always. You always got a present.
Can you remember what youw got?

Oh  goodness. I vemember one last day of school in
Athabasca, I got a tea pot. It was a beautiful tea pot.
And then the next year they gave me anocther tea pot. It was
Hel en Hodgeson?s son that was...the Superintendent’s
B« o« @Rd he went home and she said, "Well what did you get
the teacher this time?" We gave her a tea pot  to matoch the
chher orne.

Do oyouwr remenber ...l remember chipping in, somebody would get
things started, and we'd chip in, all of us chip in a
gquarter or something, and bought the teacher a gift. Did
that...is that what the students did?

That?s what they did.

Or did they give you individual gifts.

Well, you often got individual gifts besides that. But
that’'s what you got.

That’s what you got, rvight., Alright, concerts. Ball games
with other communities, obther schools?

We didn’t have, not at Fairhaven.
Nz,

And  of course  then when I came in here it just smaller
children.

Fight.

But the track meelbs.

The track meets. That was the thing.
Well, the track meets that...all the schools  came in all
around. ..this was when 1 was still teaching in Athabasca
v eand the teachers, we had to dig the pits. aAnd measure
ot . Arnd Jim Appleby and Frank Falooner and &l fred Gorman
and who's...Beryl Willey...l guess it was, we were the ones
whio had to get the grounds ready.

My goodhness.

And T can  remember digging those pits  for them to jump in
and then haul...get some bags of sand.
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Oh yes. Right. Well before we gebt into Athabasca, which we
want to talk  about here in & minute, were you familiar, or
did you visit any of the other schools in that area at that
time. Which schools would have been operabting?
Well there was the Mercury and Greyville and Big Coulee.
There was no transportation. There was no way  to get
arcound.  Mind you T met them because  they used to come o
the house. I lived in town.
Fight.
So that was the meeting place for all these teachers.
Is that right?
Anc one teacher out at Elscott. I think it Elscott.
For heaven’s sake.
Was that where that lady...what was her name?...she was a
spinster and the postmaster, postmistress, was a friend of
hers.  The two ladies always travelled together.
Is that right? I dontt know who that would be.
Mot Elscott, what®s the one just beyond Boyle.
You mean going novth, or going to.e..
On the railrvoad and going. ..
Mewbhrook, it wouldn®t be Newbrook or Thorkhild?

Moy, going the other way.

Oh, the obther way. Well it wouldn®t have Dbeen Grassland,
that’s for sure, because Grassland...

M.

Well Caslan you see wouldn't have been in existance then.
Moy it wasn’t as far as Caslan.

You see those wouldn?t have existed.
It could have been Caslan.
Oh, is that right?

Wowld it be just a very small school?
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Then that would be it. Caslan.
Could be, could be.

And the lady that had the post office and the store, or
something, and she was a big lady.

Is that right?

Something like Nellie Carol.

See, I don’t...know who youw're speaking of.

Yo were gone from there, I guess, by that time.

Did you have any festivals?

Mr. Hodgeson started the first festival.

That was already probably when you were in town, eh™

Yes., We were coming to town by that time.

I remember going...when I was at Big Coulee, schools used to
have special projects and T guess we competed against one
another to get a small amount of money. I think it was 20,
which was gquite a bit I guess, $28. But I remember one year
we cleared a whole Lot of land, like an acre or two. Well
that was a whole 1ot of land to us. Do oyl v emember
anything like that? At that time, in the early days.

But you see, you came on later.

Later, later. That was somebthing later.

You see we didn’t.

That's right, yes. OE. S0 the only place you taught out in
the ocountry then was Fairhaven. And  then youw  came into
Athabasca which was what?

142

And the firvst school was the Elementary Hohool here at the
old Brick School then.
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And  there were just two rooms and  there was no electric
light in the school and we would have to sing songs and  the
teacher would have to stand by the window and read stories
too them until 2:30.  When we would be able to see to go on
t':' tht".‘. .
For heaven's sakes.
There was just two rooms.
Two rooms there. Who was the other teacher™

Fhyvllis Wilson.

Was she really? It wasn't the Wilson then I don’t
BUPPOSEE .«

Mo, she was Phyllis MHoss.
Fhyllis Hoss.
She boarded with Mrs. Taylor and we lived right here.

Well for heaven's sakes.  And who was the Superintendent at
that point in Athabasoca™

My . Hodgeson.

That was when Mr. Hodgeson was  here. Mow he  stayed for
quite a few years.

He was here for five years.
Oh, only five.

And then he went into the Faculty. He came in  the fall and
Towarizn, but I was a year oubt there.

And he was...he was...
They must have came in 40 and left in 748, That's right.

He was very nioce. I vremember Mr. Hodgeson as a student, not
as a bteacher of course, but as a student.

Yeu.,

And then I remember him when I was at University, he was
there. I'11 never forget Mr. Hodgeson, he used to come oub
here once and awhile when I was at University and I phoned
Mim  up one day as I was desperate to gebt home after not
being at home for weeks and I said, "Mr. Hodgeson, I hear
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you're going to Athabasca," and [ said, "I wonder 1if I could
miss a class...miss some olasses and come with you and get a
ride.” "Well," he said, "It wouldn®t be ethical for me to
tell you to miss a class but yes, I am going and you may get
a ride."

And he was likely coming up here because they used to come
up here for weekends.

Yes. Huite a bit. Yoersia I believe that’s probably what
happened. Alright, we need to get...we need Lo have you
tell ws a little bit about the school  here in Athabasca.
Your furnishings. How did things change in the few vears
now from say Fairhaven and coming into town™ Did you find a
difference? A little move modernized, a little move...?

Mo, not & bit more.

It wasn’t?

Nz, no. It was still  just, very primitive. The other
sohonl was  ine...the other  fouwr rooms were in the Brick
School and  we were over there, and we had nothing but a
heater, one of those Brown heaters, and we had to do all the
firing. Mre....the janitor would bring the coal and the wood
and leave it  there, and we would have to keep the fires
ol .

My goodness. How did  you manage™? All dressed up nicely
with your dress and having to shovel the ooal in® Yo

managed.

You just had to do it Just take gloves and take the coal
in, you know, big chunks of coal.

I see. Who would have brought...what arrangements...how did
they make arvangements for coal and wood?

Well, there was a drayman in town and he brought all the
coal  and wood.,

And who was he? Do you vecall the name?
Mr. Bisby. Do oyvou vemember him?

Mz,

Mr. RBisby.

You don?t remember how much they would have gotten paid for
some of this work?
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For the janitor work?
For the janitor, yes.
Well, he would have the whole school. I suppose he might be
getting %30 — $60 a month. If he was getting that. He got
a free house.
So that was....
S0 he wouldn?t. ... .maybe not get that much.
Oh. Because [ remember when I was going to Big Coulee, when
I was a teenager, we took on janitor and we got a whole $5 a

mafnth.

Yes. That’s what the teacher got. Five dollars a month.
If the teacher did the janitor work she got $5 a month.

That sounds familiar.

But with him...that was for ofne room so 1 suppose. .. .they
maybe got $35-40.  Something like that I think.

Well., You didn’t  have any running water here did you? You
had running water in the school?

Oh yes, running water in the school.

And. . obut still no indoor tollets of course.

And then finally they built a...when the school got...they
started bringing...they built more vooms on the far side.
And then they built six toilets for  the girvls. Do you
remember that? With the stove.

I don?t remember a stove.

Thers was a stove in 1t to keep you warm.

Was there?

And the boys had the same.

Is that right?

But you remember that.

I remember the outdoor toilets, ves. Because when I was
going to high school there was some.

Those were pretty fancy. See, before we just had one.
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Fight. My goodness.  Well, these were all town children now
that you've got in Athabasca™

They were all town children at first.
At Tirst. HRight. Before...

And then they started bussing them in.

Fight. Did you notice a difference between pupils in the
country, the farm children, as opposed to those in town?

Well not with small children. I only hade..l only had three
and four.

Oh yes.

Fhyllis had grades one and two and I had three and fouwr, and
they Were.. .o ..they weren®t.

They weren't advanced more, you wouldn’t say?

Well I think maybe they would speak out a little better.

Ao little bolder.

A little, but not much.

Mot much, eh?

Mo there wasn®™t much  difference. Now they accepted the...
when the children from the country started being bussed in,
they were really accepted.

Were they™

At the high school T think there was differences made.

Yes, [7ve heard that.

But not, not with the little ones.

Is that right? When. . .when did you...when was the bussing?
When did that start?

They started the bussing in... well the first would be in
about in?40.. . 743,

Sounds about vight, yves.

West Athabasca and Baptiste Lake.
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That?'s where they started then?

That's where they started.

Niow what...the reason for that would be what?

There were no teachers.  War bhad broken oub.

Oh right. Oh sure. Shortage of teachers.

And we were frozen to owr jobs. The only way we could get
out of teaching was  to go down East  and take a job  in the

munitions factories.

Feally? Did you sign a contract or something that stated
Lo

They just told us we were frozen to the job.

And that was that?

And when T came into town T took a salary of $7350.
You had a ocut in wages!

Cut my salary.

But were you paid a little movre often.

Faid every, yes, paid every month.

Every month at that point.

Well, but by the time I left Fairhaven 1 was paid.
Oy, T see.

So that, I mean there was not...there wasn’t much advantage.
Nz, .

I had to think & long time before I gave up Fairhaven to
come o bown.

Did you really?
I really did.
That's interesting. I was going to ask you, going back to

Fairhaven, did you ever go oout to the families? Dicd youw
spend some bime, say visiting, or having supper, oOr...?
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Well, nob toos . No because I was  coming home. But those
people, my place was just like Grand Central Station on a
Satuwrday, because these women would  ocome in. It was an

opportunity for them to come to town. They would come to my
place and visit.

The farm ladies?

The farm ladies.

Feally™?

And T loved them. We'ld serve coffee ande....

I suppose they brought the oream and butter....

Well they didn’t need to bring the cream, butter and egos
because we'd got them.

Of course, because your husband had...right...of course.
We had that.

OFf course, you had plenty of that. Bubt would they bring you
obher things, do youw recall?

Oh yes. Bring you vhubarb.
Oh certainly.

Amelia used to bring me rhubarb. Yes, they'd bring things.
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INTERVIEW WITH ALICE B. DONAHUE
by Vi Fowalchuk
November 25, 13987
V.8 I don’t know how T could forget.
AB.D.r You couldn?t forget that first year could you?

Voo You couldn’t forget that firvst yvear, no.

A.B.D.s The first day 1 came home from school, T told my - my

wnole was  there visiting -~ and I said, "Well, I've earned my
thousand dollars.”  You know my mother and dad kind of looked at

ane another. I guess they thought "obh know don’t tell me she’s
gonna gquit.

I had the most wondser ful principal. . .
Vekes  Did you?  That means a lotb.

A.B.D.L s He was from Arkansas.

Ve, s A American? Isn't that great? Where did all these
teachers come ~ do you remember the teachers then, you mentioned
gome of the schools. Where did they all  come from? Were they

more or less Alberta people, do you remember™

A.B.D.:  They were maostly Alberta teachers.

Vaokias But when the war broke out and there was a shortage of
teachers, there was a very short couwrse wasn®t there? There is
probably still a o . .

A.B.Dor Amelia took 16,

Vol 8 And Amelia was one of those that took it.

AJB.D.r And Mr. - oyouwr wncle was  very upsebt with Mr. Hodgeson
because he wanted Amelia - they had to have a teacher - and
Amelia was of course, she, she was excellent, and he got her to
gmn take this short course and Mr. (avalok. dicn’t want her to, he
wanted her to take the full course and I always thought that it
was very unjust you  know when they said that these teachers
couldn’t teach after a cerbtain perviod. They got out and taught

and helped out, and I don®t think that that was a bit fair.
Vel Mot a bit fair. Yes, this is right.

A.B.D.: It was very unjust.
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A That was a very short course, what did she s
months, six weeks?

A.B.Der Oh noy, she was longer  than that. It had to be three
monthis.

Vok.:  Maybe three months., I remember talking to her. o o

ALBLD. s I remember that they went and got out at Christmas.
Voblas  Did they?

AE.D.: But, you see, they had a school waiting for her.

VokLe:  Yes, she told me, I rvemember her saying that there was.
A.B.D.r And she was great.

Vol SBhe was eh™  Well then she mist have got marvied and then .
« « because she didn’t teach after that really did she?

AJB.D. . Well no, because she was going to come back one time we
were short of  teachers and [ asked her and she wrote in and they
said that, you know, that your certificate expirved. Well it
should never have sxpired. They should bhave saild you must take a
course or somebthing.  But they didn’t, they just said it exwpirved.

VoK. s Right. aAnd yet they encouraged you people to take -~ go
back to summer school you were saying.

A.B.D. s Oy, well, I went back and took Primary Specialists
Certificate.

Velkas I see,

AJB.D.r But they didn’t pay us to go back to summer school, they
cdidn’t pay us for the certificate.

Vok.:  But yvour salary didn’t inorease?

A.B.D.r Oh noo And there was no salary schedule.
Vokae  Nothing?

A.B.Dos And T joined AT.d. for twenty-five cents.
Voke: T was just going to ask you about ALT.A.

ALB.D.: And T tramped all over with Mr. Barnett, all down around
New Norway and Camrose.
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VeE . Barnett House™
A.B.D.: Yo,
VoE.: That's the Barnett.

A.B.D.: Yes, that’s the Barnett. And I went with him when he
was holding these meetings and getting these teachers.

V.E.:  Teachers organized.
A.B.D.: We went to Bashaw and Mirvror, and around.

Vakl. For heavens sakes.

A.B.D.: I was to tell them, you see, how great it was to join
for twenty-five cents.

Voka.:  What were you told that you would get in return?  What did
the A.T.A., then, do for you?

ALB.D.: Well . . .+ We had no protection at all.

Vek.:  None.

A.B.D.: Most of the contracts were one year at a time. And 1 f
they didn’t want to extend your contract, you weren’t fived they
just didn't extend it. Every year you just went through, I don’t
krow what, wondeving if o . .

Volble:  Real worry, eh?

Ad.B.D.y Yes., 8o we were promised that. And we were promised
that possibly we'd get better wages.

Voke Which of course, they came through in the end.
AB.D.: Yes, it all . . .

Vbl It all worked out. That's interesting.
A.B.D.: Well, we had faith.

Vekblo: Yes. Well, teaching is a different ballgame, as you said,
in those days.

AB.D.: I never remember the day that, you know, you get up  in
the morning and say, "Oh no, not another day." T couldn’t wait
until I got to school.

V.K.: But you know, teachers were, I don't know, they were
Looked upon differently thén we do —~  then they are today.
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A.B.D.: Yes, that’s right.

Vok.:  You were real leaders in the community and expected to do
S0 mbs k.

AB.D.: You were expected a lot of you, and you expected to give

a lot.

V.K.: Fight, you felt it was part of your role; disn’t that
right?

AB.D.: That's right.
V.K.: It just seemed. . .

AB.D. 2 When Helen was . o o When I was doing this yvesterday
when she was here, you know, she was helping me.

Vokaz  Helen?

AB.D. . Hodgeson. She said, "Tell them that your first day of
sohool you were more  excited than the kids." She was here one
time when school was gonna start, and  she said, "Alice, you
couldn’t wait Ttil youw gobt over to that schooll

VaEL.r My goodness.

AJB.D. I gjust walked out of the house and left them all here.
Vb That’s why you tauwght for 42 years, Mrs. Donahue.

AB.DL: Forty—-six yvears.

Vaok.:  Fardon me! Was it 467

AB.D.: Forty-—six.

Veka:  Ohy, my goodness.

ALB.D.: Tsn't that something?

Voka.r My goodness.  Yes that is. Well . . . Gilda, do you have
anything you want to say at this point.

3.1 Where were wea?

AB.D.r What page are we on now?
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G I was just thinking about . . . Yes. Once they started
bussing in students, then you would have had a bit more of a
mivbture of nationalities heve, wouldn®t you have?
AB.D.r Yes.
G.: Do you remember some of the o o .
ALB.D.: But the children had all learned English.
Haez  They had at that time, so there was really no problem.

ALB.D.: There was never a proablem.

Ges  Would yvou  have had any Megro,  any black people from  Amber
Valley?

A.B.D.: In Amber Valley?
Haz Yes.

AB.D.: In Amber Valley, I had the Williams came in here to
school . Now there?’s a Williams boy going to o 0 .

Gos  Edwin Parrv rvight now., Possibly - probably some relation.
ALBLD.: Well, there’s Eaymond Williams.
Gauz At the Elementary.

H.B. Dot No the little boy is there. And I was up there subbing
afe day, and I looked at that boy. I thought, "I'm sure I know

Fim." So I looked in the Register and sure enough it was
Williams and I went down and I said, "Are you Eonald's or
Donald?s boy?" He looked at me, he couldn®t  believe that 1 was

asking that guestion.

G2 s that right?

AJBL.D.: And T had tauvoght them both —~  they were btwins.
Gar  Well, and . . .

AB.D. And the Meltons, The Williams and the Meltons were
really the only ooloured people we had.

G Ies that right? Dkay, now how about  any Indian, any Metis
children?

A.B.D.s Ok, lots of them.
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Gz Ol there were, eh? Wouwld some of them have come Trom
Baptiste Lake™

A.B.D.r I didn't have any from there.
Gar  Just right in the town here?
AB.D.: Fight in ftown, all the Coutouriers, and the Whites.

Gas Whites? Is that right? I don't remember . o o I remember
the White girl.

ABE. D, The White girl, Latresa White — the girl with the red
hair.

Get  You mean the one that marvied Solughk™

A.B.D.r 8he was a very, very bright child., She was fthe product
of an Amervican going through here.

G & I was going to say.  Yes. That's an interesting point.
That's right.

A.B.D.2 But the Grade one teachers mostly spent, when the
children cams, was trying to get those kids into school.

Gi.:  Fight and keep them there.

A.B.D.s They'd hide in the hedge and you know, and they'd get
out at recess  and when the bell would ring they wouldn®t  come
back in.

G.2  They were very shy.

ALB.D.: Very shy.

Gao: Didn®t mix, probably, with the . . .

A.B.D.: Not too well.

Bies Of couwse, that’s been a problem right fthrough  in owr
school .

ALBLD.: Well, they're no better today than they were fifty years
ago. S0 we haven’t done a thing for them.

Gos Exactly.

ALB.D.: As a matter of fact, I think we’ve made it worse for
t

Ga: Made it worse, rvight.



V.ok.: 8o attendance generally, though, from the other students

was pretty good, no doubt.

AuB.Da s Oh, the attendance was good. O, a hundred per cent
attendance, yves. And, of course, when I came into town it was
the war time and the children were busy collecting money mailled

for Britain and thats when we started our Red Cross.

Veke:  Yes, that just reminded me -~ Red Uross. Do tell us about
that because youw' ve beesen 82 active in Fed Cross.

A.B.De: Well, we had our first Red Cross tea in about 1943 and
we kept 1t up until 19673 every year.

Gaez  That tea, I remember, was a really big thing.

AB.DLr And we always sent the money. In the wartime we sent it
to the war effort and then after the war was over we sent it to
the Crippled Children's Hospital in Calgary.

G.x FRight.

S.BLD. And I'm sure that I still have all the accounts and the
finanoial reports.

G.: And you probably  did other things too, during that vyear.
Did you do any knitting, guilting. . .

ALB.D.r Mo, we didn®t do any of that.
Voka.:r That came later than because I remember working on. . .

ALB.DL e I think the country, they did, the country children.
But you see, I7d end up with Grade three and four.

Voka.:  Oh, right.

AJB.D.r And in the wartime we had three, four, and five; and 1
had forty six pupils. Peter Hodgeson was in one of them.

Gaez  Three, four, and five; that was a large class.

Vol But again, I guess the shortage of teachers, eh?
AJB.DLr Right, we couldn®t get teachers.

Gae:  Who was your principal?

A BE.D.r My principal? (Oh, at first Mr. Walker, Dr. Walker.

G.: Dr. Walker, eh?



ALB.D. He was there at first and then we had Mr. Nordan.
Go:  Oh yes, now I remember Mr. Nordan.

m
A.B.D.: Arnd after Mr. Nordan came Mr. BriYacombe.

G.: Yes, now  he taught me in high school all  day. Jim
Brimacombe.

Vuk.: Discipline, no discipline problems here that you can think
of at that time?

A.B.Der Noy I don’t remember any teachers having any problems
with discipline.

Vok.: Really?

A.B.D.: feally with discipline.

Vok.:  Why was that?

ALB.D.: Well, I have no idea.

Gez  Dooyouw think things were different at home?

AJB.D.: Oh yes, I imagine that they knew they had to behave.
Vok.:  Youlre right Mrs. Donahue. I vremember my father saying,
"If you get a whipping at  school youw?’ll  get twice as much at
home. " Mind you, I don’t know, there was a great deal of respect
for teachers in those days.

AB.D.: Ol a lot.

Vil T mean there was a lot.

AuB.D.r They might think & lot and all that but . o . noo

Vbl Yould never gelt a sassy student or guestioning you™

ALB.D.: Noy, children wouldn’t. Never. Never even a question.

VeoEL.: 8o you can®t tell us what you did to discipline the bad
little guys.

AJB.D.: Well the bad little guys, you know, the ones that were
talking too much you put them up close to your deshk.

Vekas  Most of them, eh?™ Right.
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A.B.D.: I remember one btime, é pui; have had just Grade three
and four at  that time. Jamie was in my voom, and  a mouse

ran across the floor — and I am scared to  death of mice - and I
gumped up on the desk and all  the kids jumped up on their desks.
Can you imagine? And Jamie’s trying to kill  this mouse.  Well,

it ran out and into the other room. S0, we got rid of the mouse.
But you know, I mean, you do something like that but if  you did
that with kids today, you know, you'd never get them settled
down.

Vaka.z No, no.

AJB.D.: They were all so scared and they said, "Were you really
srared Mrs. Donahue?" 1 said, "Sure I was scared."

V.K.z What kinds of things would you have done for special
little holidays like Thanksgiving?

ALB.D. 2 Oh, Thanksgiving. Well, we always made Thanksgiving
haskets and turkeys, made menus. Enterprise had ocome  in,
Enterprise came in 1935,

Vobie:  We have to hear about that Enterprise system because that
was quite something, that was a unique way of teaching.

ALB.D.: Combining, integrating all those subjects.
Vokl.:  Right, right.

AJB.DL . We still had math and reading and spelling but all the
obthers were integrated in Enterprise.

Veka:  In 1935, eh?

A.B.D.: That was the first. I went to summer school and took a
special course on Enterprise.

VK & Lotes of artistic work and a lot of dioramas and all kinds
Of &« = = I just remember doing so many things.

A.BE.D.: We studied Japan ~ we had a Japanese tea and invited the
parents in. I remember Mr. Hodgeson saying to me, he said, "You
know welre going to take," there was anocther teacher Miss
Fellows, I guess, "I'm going to take you oubt to a school this
Enterprise is just coming out  the door." You open the door and
he said Enterprise just balls out. It was Mary, Mary Lucas. Bhe
was terrific when it came to Enterprise.

Veka: Well, you really could do oa 1ot with it.

AB. DL Oh and she did. And she was a young teacher.
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Vok.:  Yes, she would have been then, that’s right.

AJB.D.: The rest of us were old. We!d been at it for a few
YEAarS.
Vaobkas Hallowe?en, what would you have dorne for Hallowe'en, for

example, at school.

AJELD. . We had a Hallowe’en party and everybody dressed up.
Vokar  Did you give prizes?

ALBLD. . Came  to school, got & prize, we had them ducking for
apples. They went out in the afternoon as soom as school was outb
and they went out around the town and then they were all finished
by five or six ofclock.

Vbl s Sure. When you, you  pub on concerts  here in Athabasca
too.  And of  course then 1t was a combined effort, [ suppose, of
all the teachers and the classes.

A.B.D.r ALL the classes, yes.

Vobie s And Valentines Day was an awful special day.

AJE.D.: Valentine and Valentine box. We made Valentines.

Vaoklas  Fight. Students used to exchanges Valentines at that time.
It was fun, I suppose, because some of them, I rvemember, wouldn’t

put names and you had to guess who gave 1t to you.

A.B.D.: And then they'd stand right there and say, "Did yvou get
mine, did you get mine?" They’d all be so eager.

Vekle:  Eager, that’'s right. Easter; well, of course, that was a
areat thing.

ALB.D.y Easter, of course, we had the Easter story.
Valles Did you?  What do oyow mean by the Easter story?

A.BE.D.r We told the whole story.

Vobklive Did you?  That reminds me, [ was going to ask you o . .
ALB.D. e Ancd the same with Christmas, we did a Christmas boolk
BVETY YEar. It was the Uhristmas story. And  they brought

Christmas cards, youw know, and pictures of the baby Jesus.

Vol Bee that rvreminded me — when you talked about saluting the
flag and singing 0 Canada -~ did you not read a passage from the

Bible everyday?
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A.B.D.r Now

Vebos  You didn®t?

A.BE.DL s At one time we did but then, I don’t know why we quit.
We put the Bibles in the school. I think it was sort of that we

just let it go. But we always said the Lord's Frayer.

Vok.s  And nobody ever, like today, of course, people are excused
from singing O Canada and they are . . .

ALB.D.: Well, I had a little Jewish girl.

Vobiee  Did you?

A.B.D.r They were very close friends of ours — we played Bridge
with them all the time. But I didn’t say, you know, [ tried to
be guite careful about what you said about Christmas when she was
L8 My VY adm.

Vaobla:  Yes, right.

ALB.D.e And you  didn't -~ I told them youw know  that if  they
didn’t -~ Jehovah Witnesses wouldn®™t say the Lord's Prayer and I
said, "Well, it doesn’t matter whether you say it, I'm not asking
you o osay it but T oam asking you to stand up and bow your head.”
VoK.t I see.

ALB.D.: You don’t have to say anything, and nobody objected.
Vokas Everybody was comfortable with that. One thing we missed
was report  cards going back even to Fairhaven. What type of
report card?

A.B.D.r We had a report card sent out by the department.

Vol Department of Education.

A.B.D.: And then when I came into town we devised our own  with
our principal.

VokL s Bub then over the years they were modi fied and changed.
A.B.D.r Yes, and changed so0 you wouldn’t recognize them now.

V.Ka.t But the gradings, now did you have letter oagradings or
percentages?

A.B.D. s Letter.



Vol Letter gradings.

ALB.DL o Mostly. In the younger grades.

Vokar  What types of things would have been on the report  cards?
It seems to me there were a lot of satisfactory or unsatisfactory
for some certain things.

ALB.DL.: Yes. &t one time it was satisfactory or unsatisfactory.
Vakes For, even for subjects?

AB.D.r For every subject.

Yokl Feally. 8Bo that just meant a pass or a fall and that was
it

AJB.D.: Not always., If it was unsatisfactory the fivst month it
improved, usually.

Vil Farents krnew about 1t and . . » How  often did report
cards go oout then™?

AJBE.DL About every two months.

Vobla s B2 the parents rveally kept in  touch with what was  going
.

SuB.Der As a matter of fact, they used to go out once a month.
Vok.: Really.

A.BE.D. s In my firvst six years of teaching.

Vol Ok my goodness, that was a lot of work for the teacher.
AB.DLr But it paid off.

Vo K It paid off that there was communication there. N2 parent-
teacher interviews, of course. Did you  ever have to ocall a
parent in?

A.B.D.2 No never.

Veka:  MNever. Nothing ever serious enough to warrant it7

H.B.D.s We had parent-teacher wvisitations over here one time.
They tried that one year, it was something.

Vel 2 Tell us about it.

AB.Du: Well, the parents could come in . . .



VeEL.:  During the class day — during the day.

ABE.D.: During the class while you were teaching and, of course,
the kids, well you can imagine if your  child all she was  doing
was watoching Mom, what success could you have beaching?

Ve Kws It wasn®t a typical day?

ALE.D.: And then they would move, they were coming and going all
the time -~ 1t was just a continuous stream of parents going  from
o room o the other.  And the teachers just objected, you know,
we said if they?ll coms in and  sit down through a whole lesson.
But they didn’t want to stay through a lesson.

Vobkier You cut that out then the following yvear.
AJB.D.r We cut that out, it didn®t work too well.

Vielkas I should write this dowa, I Think of something then I
forget what I want to ask you. Talking about report cards.

I know what T was  going to ask  you.o  When it came to deciding
whether students passed or failed at the end of the yvear because
there were failures in those days, was that a pretty big
decision® Did you  ever talk to the parents or you made that
decision yoursel f7

AJBELD. I think the parent was prebtity well aware of it from the
report cards. Mo the child just passed o  failed, that's all.
If he didn?t know his work he failed.

Vokler MHow did ~ I don't know if they made such a big deal of it
in  those days? Was there, do you think, the trauma for the
student if it failed?

A.BL.D. Well, the kid felt badly. I remember I failed Ronny
Garten and aAllen Fix  and, who was  the other child? Hebert. I.
remember they oried and, of course, I cocried to because, you know,
vl felt so badly but you had no cholce they didn®t know the work
and « . .

V.k.z That was the thing, they didn’t know the work and they
didn®t go on.

A.B.D.3 I remember we used to love to get Mrs. éashley’™s  pupils.
We knew that they bkhnew theilr work. They never passed from one

grade to ancther without knowing their work,

Vel § Interesting.
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A.B.D.: Which was good.
Vakas Fight, now welre going to ask you — we were talking about

the role of the teacher — what part did you play in the social
life of the district.

A.B.D.: Well, in town, in Fairhaven, by entertaining the
families on weekends. On a Saturday afternoon.  And, of course,
when they came into town then, of course, you were in everything.

G.:  What were some of the kinds of things you would have taken
part in?

A.B.D.: Curling, skiing, dances, lodge, I0DE, Bridge . . .
Vok.:  Box socials.
ALB.Dor We never had any box socials.

Vokie: You  didn®t? Isn’t  that interesting because box socials
were a big thing in the countries. You never ever . . .

AB.D. s And I rnever ever had a box social when I owas tsaching at
Fome .

Vobkia: Is that right?

ALB.D. I never had box socials.

Vokler  And that was a real big thing. ITen?t that funny?

AJB.Dor When I was growing up box socials were the big thing and

so were Oyster suppers to raise money for  the church. Can you
imagine going and eating oysters?

Vobler That's the first time ['ve heard of that — oyster supper.
A.B.D.: I guess they must  have had  obther stuff to eatbt. I
wouldn’t be very old.

Vok.:  Where would they have o .« .
A.B.D.s In the homes.

Vokles Ok, ves. But they would have had to import them, where
wourld they have been able to get them?

A.BE.D. s I have no  didea where the oysters came from. I don’t
suppose I thought. I mever thought about it 7Hill now, Vi,



Vellas But  in  these activities I suppose  you had  to take a
leading role in  presidency o secrebary. Well, you’ve been

secretary for 50 many  things you  probably can’t remember them
all.

ALBELD. Well, T know I was o . o and you  collected. We
collected for Red COross, we collected for Italian, you remember,
all  those different countries we were oollecting for. We
collected  for the Italians when  they were our allies. We

collected for the British but I remember that because somebody
said, "Well, rnext thing you'll be collecting for the Germans.”

Vel Feally.

AH.B. DL That was vesterday. So you  were expected to take part,

vy know. When you were asked to do the collecting you just did
it.

V.Kas Fight. Sports was a big thing too, in those days. Like,
mastly  track and field, I guess. Ballgames, track and field, I

guess in some btrack and field like you said .o . .

ALB.DLr For the ftrack and field meebs  but that was about  all.
They just practiced a little bit before that. But everybody
curled in Athabasca. That was the only thing that there was Lo
o

Veller Youwlre talking about adults, of course?

ALRB.D.: And kids.

Volier  Did they?

AJBL.DLr The young -~ about Grade seven, eight, nine.

Vokie: Did fThey?

AB.DL . Well, a lot of them had to curl to make enough to make
up teams.

Vobles  For  goodoess sakes.  Of couwrse, that’s rvight, we had the,
old vink downbtown here.  When would that have been built?

AuB.D. s I about 19507
Veklaz Was it? I thought it might have been earlier.
A.B.D.r Noo  We had the rink vight down here.

Vokias Where?
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A.B.D.r Down where  the liguor store; over wheve Tomboy is.  The
skating rink and the cuwrling rink was there. I just had to run
down the Rill.

Vable:  Well, for heaven's sakes.

ALJBLD.: And it was like that uwuntil 745, it may have been the
very late 7408 that they built the one over there.

Voker  And  then the new one was fimnally built in 1980s, 1366
maybhe.

ALBE.D. e I mever curled after they went up the hill.

Vakas Yoo didn?t? How marny sheets of ice did they have down
Frere, for example? One, two?

ALB.D. o Twon

Voklar  Because they had what over here? Three?

AJB.D.: We had three sheebs of ice over there. Didn't we?

Gz Yes, I think so.

Velles Music festivals, did you have any of those in Athabasca?

Ad.B.D.: Ouwr fivst music festival was in 1945 I think. When Mr.
Hodgeson was here.  He organized the first one.

Vals 2 Did he?

ALB.D o Bub, mind you, it wasn’t the same kind of festival that
they have now.

Vebkie:  What, how was that different?

ALB.D.: Well, that was - you brought your Enterprise bonks - it
was kind of a fair and music festival. There was music and

choral speaking « o«

Vokat I remember what it was now. And the books and sxamples of
Writing and notebooks, artwork.

ML E.D. s I remember we did a book on Athabasca the Beautiful, and
it was all pictures. A picturebook.

Vebles  Oh gosh.  And T suppose that you have 1t today.

A.B.D.: Yes. I forve some of the pictures out for over here for
the book that they did.
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VoK.t Well, that would have been, was that like a school
exhibition? We called them festivals, I remember that.

ALB.D.: Bchool festivals.  And they were very popular.  Westlook
had one, all the larger centres had them. Camrose had them when
I was still teaching but Camrose was a festival like the festival
i now and we brought them in.  Little Morwegian kids.

V.ok.: But schools, the oublying schools came in.
AB.D.y Oh ves.

Vaobias And schools competed with  Athabasca, or olasses competbed
with one ancther as far as choral speaking o the  singing or
whatever.

A.BE.D.: Yes, it was for the county.

Vokaz It was for  the whole school  division, [ guess, at that
time.

AJB.D.r Anybody could come in and take part.

V.E.: Because the county, what do you remember, the county came
in in 19 . . .

ALEBELDL s I'wve got all of that witten down.
Vobklies  Youve got it all down, eh?

AJB.D. IPve got it all down somewhere.

VoK. 2 Was it in the ?P350s7
A.B.D.s It would be in the 750s.

Voklar  Because o . . Mind you they started centralizing . . ..
youb know, like Colinton was centralized to a point because they
had several rooms and, of course, the students around  there came
in. And then finally when that olosed. OFf course, Laihiville
had three rooms o somebhing and o . .

ALB.D. e Well, Jean was Phyllis'a principal and Phylliz taught
out there. :

VK And  then finally when those schools olosed, of course,
then the really big centres like Athabasca, Boyle, and so had o .

Mo box socials, isn®t that . .+ Piconics. Did you have
any picnics in connection .« . .
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ALB.DL.: Well, the last day of school we used to go down — take
them down to the swimming hole.

Vobler  The famous swimming haole.

AuBLD. s The famous swimming hole. Well, ours, yes. The
swimming hole was where we met.

ViK.z Arnd you weren®t afraid?

A.RB.D. s (Oh, we wers. We finally realized the dangser. But I
think it was only because of some parent. You know there were
more people coming in but the children that lived here, they knew
all about the swimming holes and they never went near the river,
MEver.

Vobles  They didn’t, eh?

AJB.D.: Those kids were never down at the river.

Vel it Is that right?

AB.D . You know, they were taught to not go near  the river and
they knew that that was the swimming hols and we wouldn't have
arny  problem at all., Bub we finally quit. And then we got cars
and took them out to the lake different times. But that didn?t

work because you can®t look after 70 little children.

Vol You would have  had busses o who took them out? Just
families?

ALB.DL.: Just families. Arid the track meets, we used to have to
Just take the kids. UOne time would be  at Rochester and one time

wistld be at Athabasca, one time would be at Boyle.

VK.t Colinton™®

MAaE.D. s I could never rvemember Colinton. Colinton came up here
I think. And then we allj those were the centres where they were
el And when 1t was  held in Fochester we all had to go down
there.

Vol Arnd in those days  for track meets 1 rvemember the

certificates that they used to give 1 you o . . Well, you had
to earn so many points, of course.

ALB.D. . OF course, yvou gobt some certificates.
Va.E.s I got lots of them., First was three points. Yiou used bo

gign a lot of those certificates, Mrs. Donabhue. What, you  must
have been on that . .+ .
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ALBR.D.: I was selected secretary. I was secrebary of the AJT.A.
for a long time too.

Voba:  Right, that’s another thing we should tallk about - the
A.ToA., in a little bit. Yes, because ['m  sure you signed some
of those certificates, I should look  them up. But three points
for  first, two for second, and one  for third., And  if you got
nine points for the highest you’d get a piece of . . .

ALE.D.:s You could only compete in so0 many things and I think it
was forty points the most that you could get. Now that would be,
what did I say? Five, was it five, three, and two?

Vobke:  FPerhaps.

ALBELDL: Five, thres, and two I think. & five and four would be
eight.

VK. 8 It wasn’t at first because, I think, it was five, three,
and two at the first two.

AJB.D.: Only the tobtal was smaller too then.
V.ok.:  Right, because [ rvemember that 1if [ got nine points and it
Was, you know, it wasn’t  that hard to. If you got three firsts

there you were and that was enough for a certificate.

A.B.DL That's right. Well, you could only  enter in three
things.

Vellar But then youw could only enter in three things plus  the
relay.
A.B.DLr That's right. Yes, plus the relay. Isn’t that where

your gob all those rules and regulations®

Velklae  Oky  you had all kinds of rules and regulations.  Bub that
track meet, I remember that so well. That was so mach  fun. I
mean, that was one of the highlites of the vear.

ALE.DL e Well, it was. It was the highlite for the teacher too.
Vaokas I suppose.

AB.Der Oh, yves because you ses your kKids winning. .« .

VoK.t And socialize with obthers and the kids all CAame 1. I
heavens, yes.  Yes that was something.

ABLD. s It really was a grealt day.
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V.K.s It was. It was really a great day. And then at  what
point « . . I don’t recall, for example, like Big Coulee, would
the schools then total up their, all the ribbons . . .
AE.Der Bome school could get o o .
Vokler  And one of the schools could get o . .
AJB.D.or The o . .
VoL HWas it a shield?

AB.D.: Flague, no shield.

Vokbe:  Bhield, that was it. And they would put - what did they

put on that shield? They would have a little, a little plaguse .

ALB.D.r That yvouw had won it for the first year.
Velles Did they put the number of points?

AJB.D. I gdon?t think they put the number of points  up but they
put the name of the school.

Voka s And the year.
A.B.D.: Yes.

Voble:  Yes, that's probably what it was. Well, that was a big
Mowor . A big honor.

ALB.D. T wonder where those plagues are now?

V.K.3 I wonder.

AB.D.: I've got a little silver cup that Mary Pelleck and I
went to the garbage one day and they were burning this stuff  and
we each rescued a cup. There's nothing engraved on mine.

Vel N It was given to Samantha do youw think?

HuBE. D It was supposed to be. It was Mr. Brimacombe. He was
going to clean out the office.

Vekes  What a shame, what a shame. There you are you sSee.
A.B.D.:  There you are.
Vekar  That's what happens.

ALB.D.: I should say.
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VoK. Youu  didn’t know  all about  these track meebs did  you,
Hilda.
Gi.z Mo
Vober  UOh ves, A.T.A. You were secrebtary for guite a few years.
AB.D.: Yes, at the beginning.
VoL At the beginning, sh™

AB.D.: Yes, and then Laura Scott took over for me. Jim Appleby
was president and [ was secretary.

VekLor  How many yvears, do oyou vemember?

ALE.D.r Oh, three or four years.

VokL.s Ok, dis that right?

AJELDL e Then Jim and I would have to go to these family
negotiating committes meebtings. We went down  to Colinton and I
remember 1t was held up . . « N, it was held up at the school.
And you had to pay  your own, well, get your own way down there.
And Jim  used to drive  an old Ford with no o o o Anyway, you
could see the snow on the o . o You know, there was no board.
VokLe:  No running boarvd.

A.B.Der Moo I omean board inside the car.

V.l Dkay, lets stop there Gilda.

Veblar  We were talking aboubt yvouwr work with the A.ToA. , T guess.
And then T was going to ask you about convenbions.

A BE.Der The fivst convention, it was held in Athabasca.
Vobke:  Really?
A.BLD.s That first teacher’s convenbtion.

LV Now what area?

H.B.D. s Farker?s  Hall. Al the teachers around here. We used
o have our AT AL mestings in the different homes, Mrs. Falkner
woild have 1t and o . .
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AN TNTERVIEW WITH ALICE BLANCHE DUONMAHUE

Continued

And wefre conbinuing....
Yes, Movember the 25th, 1987.

Yes. Welre conbtinuing in  an interview with Mrs. Donabhue.
Al rvight. You wers saying yvou have the three....

Frogy ams.

P}mgrams. From the....All right. What were those dates
AQALNT

The first one is...i8 from the Camrose Ins....No.  The first
one i from the Stettler Inspectorabte in 1929, Movember of
1929, aAnd the next one is from the Camvose Inspectorate in
Movember 1930 and I have anobher one now from the Edmonton

Convention, the North-Eastern Alberita Convention, 1968,

S oyoul were. .. that’s in Athabasca already. ALl right. Car
youl o bell us a little bit about  the program then that would
have. .. .they would have had? Thie format  of...of  the

convention in those days.  Say, maybe we could talk about
bhe first ones before yvou cams here and then maybe the kinds
of conventions they had once you weve teaching in Athabasoa
and maybe how they changed over the vears.

Well. The way they were seb up before was  that they
asked. .. they had speakers come in.  And 1t was  just..just a
gathering, a two day gathering and you would have the
meetings in the morning and the afternoon and then a banguet
at night. And then the next day the meetings in the morning
arnd the afternoonm.

You said you had  guest speakers. Did you have a main guest
speaker like we do it btoday? You dontth.

Mo We didn?t. We had guest speakers in different areas.
Different areas.

Mow, one  would be on Mental and Vocational tests.  another

was on Logior Education and Methods. Creative Education in
the Old  World. Setting the Btage for Health Education.
Were some  of  the topios. learning  and  Its Divecbion.
Educational Philosophy and Sociology. Applied Physical
Training. And then in the...on the second day  they usually
ook into the different divisions, sections, you know. Yo

would have the high school section, the senior  section and
the primarvy sectbion. And we'd have a meebting and  an
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election of officers for that. And then in the afternoom

the frustees would also have thelr  mesbting. o owith all
these...youlve given a ocholoe of  all  these different
speakers that you could go to listen bto. S bthat was  all

that...and of course 10 was a...you had o attend,
Yo had to attend.  That's btrue.

Mo skipping oub.

Mo skipping then.

Mo And then they were in small towns so that....

That's ftrue. There was the difference. You used to meet in

a  @mmall  bown. Yiolle o o 80 Fow many  schools would...the
survounding schools would come into a8 more centralized area

then, «h?

Yes, The Stebttler Inspectorabte. It was inspectorabtes.
Inspectorates. . .that would be...?
Whatever...

Like our division then was or somebhing....?
Yes, but much smaller than owr division.

Much smaller.

Yes. Bubt there were all kinds of country schools,
Y.

Youi ses bthat..they had to have these. ..
That?s true. AL bhese,.the ooe room sohosl

They had to bhave these conventions in the larger centres but
rext boo far apart because these teachers had to gebt in.

That’s truwe, that’s true. They were all the one voom sohool
teachers. That's right.

S o bhat. .. cand  then, of course, there was the program, a
banguet program  and  there was a guest speaker  at  the
banguet. Ancd Betty....in this one in Btettler, Betty
Goddard, The Reverend J. G, Goddard, lived in the community,
singing. Which was Betty's father.

Betty?....Falooner?
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Falooner .

Oy of course, that was her mailden name, wasn’t it7?

Yea, thabts vight. S0 that....and then the next one we have
was in Damrose and  of course, 1t was very much  the same.
The Camrose Inspectorabe. Ancgd bthe topilos were  almost
exactly the same. Although they were divided in  Junior and
Senior  sections & little bebtter than what they were here.
This was very, very general.

o how many years labter now 1s this one?

This would be...owell, this is '30. Mot very many years
later.

Mot very many yvears was 187

PE9. One year later.

Just one vear later.

That's not very good. T'wve got them all. &Ll my.... And
this, this.... we have our registration.  And we always had
a Med Oross representative.

Why was that?

Well, she always came and spobke.

Was it part...part of the school....?

Fart of the sohool progeam. Al we  always  had  a
representative from the Teachers’ Alliance.

Which was...? Explain that.
ATA

Oh, that was the ATA then.
Teachers?® Alliance, ves.
Teachers? Alliance.

And then they, they would have one, we'll say, Picture Btudy

i the Frimary Urades. Mow  this Mrs. Cole would give a
demonstration if you were interested in primary picture
study, you would take that. Arithmetic in the Junior and
Fublic School Grades; and that was Dr.  LaZerte. Of course
that was the biggest class. Ancd then, of course, bthere was

the seniors which I wasn't interested, in seniors. And then
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the Thursday evening was the sooial and  then on Friday was
the demonstration... & Friday afternoon in a Rural SBohool.
Arnd  the teacher brought her pupils in and she oconducted
aschool as she would in a rural sochool.,

Yol krow, I think when I first started teaching there was
one year that I vemember that...

I did. I demonstrated an afternoon here in Athabasca.

Oh here. See that was before my time. When I first started
teaching it was in  Edmonton and Miss Elliot  actually had
some students and she was demonstrating the. ..

Well mine was. ...l just demonstrated two lessons.

Two lessons.  Well.

That was Mr. Hodgeson that had that.

Mr . Hodgeson.

And then in the afternoon there was just reports,  you know,
from general meetings. And that was the...

Did you have a local...Well now let's see, nowe...1it would
Mave bheen 8...8 sort of  a local... We used to have a loocal
ATA meeting on the Friday. Usuwally the convention was held
Thursday and Friday, and then Friday maybe an hour or fTwo
WETr & . wWas reserved for sort of a move central, a local, ATA
meeting. It seemed to me. I suppose every local had their
OWie  Boowas that something...?

Yes, but then you see...

It wouldn®t have been gquite the same bthough because. ..

Mow i NMew Norway we had a little local. Because Dr., you
krow, Mr. Barnett came down and  formed one but it was  hard
for those girls to get in and it would usually be a Saturday
afternoon. And then where dooyou hold 287 Beoauss you're
boarding and it would always have to be in a boarding place.
Fight. There was really no....

Bo it wasntt...it wasn't always that easy.

Alvight. Now this one is...7  Oh, go ahead.

Irne..Noy what were you going to say now?
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NOL. It*'s O, I was going to ask you something before and I
should wite 1t down because I'm ogoing to .01 forget them.
Oy, T kEnow, when  you were talking aboubt  getiting lessons.
That reminded me, it meems to me that somewhere along the
line you got, from the County  or from bhe Sokool
Division...were you not, what  do they call themP.o..It%s a
very special teacher...you got a gold watoch or something for
Bunwon

(b ves.

What was these btitle?

What was that called? Oubstanding Teacher Award.

What vear did yvou get vour Outstanding Teacher Award.
G, TP¢ have to go look ab mye...

Mow what yvear was that...did you see. . Did you find 187
1959

1959

But  when 1 first came heve our convenbtions were held in
Athabasca and they were held in Parker®s Hall and  at fthat

time we had only, Just guest speakers come. It was a two
day affaly and we'd have representatives from the ATA and a
vepresentative from  the Red Dy oss. And weld have

demonstrations. Mow, different teachers would..o.yo know,
if  she's a good art teacher, o anyithing, she would
demonstrate art. Bo these were demonstrabions.

O sure.

and then Mr. Hodgeson was oury Buperintendent and  then he
started Music Festivals, besides. Bo we always had to have
a part of the meeting set aside for music festivals.

T give obher teachers ideas just how to go aboub. ..

Yes, to give other teachers ideas. And then, as I say, they
would demonstratbe.

How would the demonstration be held?

They would bring the pupils in.

S othis is another...”

Just like a typical...like a8 little classvoom.
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SGee [ just brought...my pupils came down o the Hall and I
Just baught the lesson just as 1§ 1 were teaching it.

Sure. Did you choose the lesson or...”

It was a lesson in math.

It math. o oyowr choose the lesson yvourself. They
cidn?t...they just said that we would like something in
math.

Math, a demonstration in math, ves.

oo it was  primarily  the tesacher  in Athabasca who  would
demonstrate?

What™?

Was 1t primarily  the feachers in  Athabasca who o would
demonstratbe?

(ks N Ny P w Beoause . .« Ny We Frad
demonstration....demonstrating teachers from all around.

And they would all bring in their own students?
Well, if they...you know, they wouldn®t bring maybe all of
them, but they would bring a number  anyway. A then

BN .« o

Were there sver any discipline problems? I should imagine
there would be.

Mot likely.

What?

Discipline...there was no discipline problems during that...
Oy, wou didn't have any discipline problems.

Mo, no.

That was an unbeard of thing.

And especially in a lesson like that with all the adults
sitting and watching you, they....I'm sure.

They were just doing their best, I'm telling you.

That’s true. Thabt's true. Did you have to do any ocoaching
beforehand or?
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Well, wvou know, that’s dangerous.
Yes, that’s true.

T ocoach, you see, 1T you do too much coaching they®11D fell.

Sure. I guess  bthat'™s true. It wouldn®t  be a natural
LY. o

It wouldn’t be a natural. I mean bthey were coached on, on
the. ..

The behaviow part, I suppose, and sveryvibbhing else, bub...

Yem,  and... They were suppossd  to know bheilr tables and
their add...you know, they could add and subdtract and...

Sure. Alvight. This next program WAaS..... 7
This next program was later on, in 1968,

Thats gquite & period.

Now,  this was the Morth-Bastern, but  this time we had
graduated to the oity of Edmonton.

Thatts right.

And we had  many locals taking part. Which was Athabascoa,
Bonneville, Lao La Biche and all these areas.

Y.

And therve were representatives from each local took part in

putting together the program. They had a Frogram Commitiee
and a Convention Commibies and a hostess....nhost and
hosbess, Anc thern we had. . .now here  was bthe Supervisor of
Industrial  Arits, The Teachesr in the Process of BEducation.
That was one btopic. Arnd then we had a speaker from...we

brought in, imported speakers.

Oh ves.

Yo know, they were....they came in from far away.
The Btates, and...yes.

And they always had a thems, you know,  the theme. Which we
didn’t have before.

That?s btrue.
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Arnd dit's veryv...it?s not oas close and not as personal.
Mo it isntt.
Yo Brow, now yow can skip. You dontt oneed to ogooat oall.

Well, it's....00he numbers are larvger and I think people fend
to maybe, take off and rnobt...cand do other things.  But....

Where we don't dare.

N Im  those days did yvou then...well by then I'm sure
because 1 know T owas  teaching...bub do oyou remember bThe
first conventions in Edmonton™ Once you went to Edmonbon,

did you have a session where vyould get ftogebher in small
groups with teachers, suppose you were a reading teacher, or
lLanguage arts, perhaps even math, you'ld be with math
teachers, and you would discuss problems and how o overoome
themnm and maybe exchange lesson, wunit plans and that sort of
thing™  Doooyvow remember when that...?

There was some of that.
There was for a while and I know then they gobt away...
But then it just sort of....

Right aout. I don?t know why. I thought that was one of the
most helpful things.

Well I think it was too. I think it was  one of the
highlights.

And I never  knew why they ever discarded it. I thought it
was good.

I guess they  though it was & waste of  time. Well they
brought all these high-powered speakers in from the Btates
and they have to...youw Enow, had to let fThem speak.

Yes.  Bubt you know, that was so muach theory and so much. . .80
many btimes those peopls were out  of the olassrvoom for so
tong I obhink fthey kind of  lost touch. We  really wanted
gomething move concretbe.

Concrete.  Therels no use in talking about something in a
ook,
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Youfve got  children., When you get  forbty children in front
of  youw, youlrve nob worried about a book and what they’re
supposed to do. Ten per cent are supposed to do one thing
and ten per cent anocther. No percentage there.

What other things did you say were bthere?

Well, that Was. . Well, they had this...a speaker  on
Becondary Education and the topic  The Fole of  the Teacher
Tomoryow. Mr. MaocGregor was chaivrman of fthat group.

Our Bob MacocGregor™

Yes. Bob MacGregor and then Industrial Srits was....

& big thing then.

A big thing then. Then we had the geneval meeting. Well,
bhere wWere 0OF....we had group...they broke in group.. ..

Smal ler groups.

Group discussion.  Group One with the elementary and then a
vecorder G o Twog  Junior High and Growup Threes
Administrators and Supervisors.

Oy They would have thelr own.

So they had that for awhile. Bub otherwise, that was...that
was the meebings. And then, of course, bthe afternoon was
for...one part was for the whole group and then  the obther
part was just for Athabasca. They'd have theiry own little

meeting.

Yes. .o you used to collect.. . it seems fto me that yvouo..owell,
Yiid. « s Were you secrebary of the Athabasca local?

Yes. Way back in 19—-....Before Laura Soobb.
Yes., HBecause [ Hnow Laura SBoobd was. ...

1938 I guess. Jim o éppleby was president and I was
secretary.

And it seems to ome  tThat when we went to BEdmonbton  for our
teachers? comvention you used bto....bthat firvst morning youw®d

be collecting. We  had fto pay ouwr fees then. Mo, oof
courss, it's  different. They take it right out of our

paycheques. We never pay. But then we did.
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Oh ves. Right.

Sooyou wused to have to collect, yvou  and, well I suppose the
execubive was at the desk there, weren't you?

Yesm, likely.
Yes, yves, [ remember.
Gee, that’s a long time ago.

That's a long time ago. . Anthing else before we leave
education, Hilda?

Did I say in 1989 I received the Oubtstanding Teacher Award?
Yes, 1989, Oubstanding Teacher Award, that’s right. Do you
want Mrs. Donabue to fell wus & little bit about how that
cams about or who starfed that? Was there a Superintendent
here that...or was it..7

Mr. Parvy started it.

Oh, Mr. Parr.

Mr. Parr.

He was a school trus.....a.

And he  was...and he felt that...0f course, in  bthose days,
vyl know,  bteachers had been  heve for  a long  time, and I
think a laot of it had to do with the length of time you were
ey e, It got down towo..it was pretbty bad.

Is that right?

They finally abolished it.

‘\y"’

I knew they abolished it but I didn’t why.

But. Yes, and I think Laura Scott won the first one and I
wort the second one. Aned then there was the third and a
Fourth, and aboub the Tifth one.. ..

I know Jean Golonka gob one.

Y. It got down then to where...

It was difficult to chose, eh?
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It was difficult fto chose. It%s  wasn’t hard because Laura
had been here the longest in  the County, before when 1t was
dust a small, well, it was just a small inspectorate. Sl
was up abt Smith.

k.

And then T was the next longest so that wasn’b...now that
was part of it but omind you. ..

That wasn’t all of it. That’s right. You had to be pretly
oubtstanding.

But then, that gave you.... at  least you got one choloe.
Yo krnow, at  least...what  would,  should T sayv.....you
wouladntt say one choloe. You pioked out  fthe one with the
Lonmgest .

That was one ori...ons of the oriterias

That was the oriteria, bthat's rvight. Ancd bthen you ocould
take two or  three of them together which had had maybe a
little less, or a little move...a little less.  And fThen go
from there.

I wonder if they took into consideration...well, [ don’t
Brow about exbtracurvicular activities or...but your vole in
the community.

Im the community. Yes I fthink that had & lobt bo do wilbth it.
I think probably so boo, yes.  That was kind of nice.

It was part of it.

Alright. Boy, Hilda, shall we go onto something else then?
Is there anyithing slse about teaching that we want toe...?

I?m trying to think.

You  have  here downy  contrasts  between  youwr 1ife, Mrs.

Donabhue, and  those of obher teachers. And T supposs there
wioild have been guite a...guite & contrast to you living in
town for example  and working here. Well  wou ftold wus a

little about Fairhaven. But, if you were a fteacher oubt in
the country, say like Laura, or Richmond Park, or whatever,
as compared to your life herve in  Athabasca, what would you
may aboub. .. ”

I think that those people in the country, they had a good
Life too. Especially if they we...
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They had a bonus. I remember that.
Yes. That’'s right. They had a bonus.

What did they call that bonus?  That was a...oh, let’s ses,
there was a name for that.

Mot a wilderness bhonus.

Something like  that. It was...if you lived guite a
distanoe. ..

ITsalation bonus?
ITsolation!  That's what it was. Thank you, Gilda.
A ITsolation Bonus.

Yes and T don't...Do yvou vemember how much bthat  isolation
bonus would have been?

Well, it wasn’t that...of course, when you think of salaries
- e« BEO A month.  The isolabtion bonus. ...

Would it have bheen $10. It seems to me I have $10 in mind.
Not surely $10 a month.

Ol noy nao. Ohy, & month.  That would bring it wup to. It
woulod perhaps be $200-300,

A year T

AOVERY, Yes. And Smith  still had an  ilsclabtion bonus  up
until just a few years ago.

For gquite & long fTime.

But I think that they had ...they had a good 1ife. Y
Enow, there was a community spivit, in....especially in some
of the districts.

Definitely, definitely there was.

Some of them, they were really busy all of the time.

That?s right. The teacher was involved in a great part of
that.

In so many  things. &nd  then in town, of course, you getb
involved in things obther than school too,
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Other than school too. Maybe...l don’t krnow. Maybe slightly
different kind of activities. I guess the country feacher
had to put on fthe concerts and...

O ves.

Firvest of all she'd have to put  on a dance in the fall to
raise money for the concert.

That's vight. And those were great!

Those were great times, thats right.

Big deals.

Big deals is vight. Yes, they wers.

A then  she had to buy all  the gifits for  fthe Christmas.
She may have had a commities to help bher.  Buy the gifts for
the children and the ftreats and  then put on the Christmas
concert.

Fut on the Christwas concert  for that whole  community and
wsually that was the school.o..

A the fteachers were usually judged by youwr  Christmas
coriser .

Yes. It was a big thing. The community looked so forward
b othat, didn®t they?

Ta really was.

Yewm, [ rvemembesr btaking part in it. The school was often notb
Big encugh. They were just jammed o the very back,

Oy T know. Weren't they? Just packed in.

It was a good fTime, that's for certaln. But really, I
guess, you cant  really point anybthing...pin down anything
different. Bay, terms...

Well, in the sarlier days, they had it almost as good as
what...well, [ mean, we had a few more of  bthe...you know,

lights and water, and things like that.

That's right. They would have had to do without  those
things.

Yes. They had to do without those things.
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Foads were Dbad. Somebimes  Impa...yow kEnow, you just
couwldntt. ..

Yew, sometimes they were inpassable.
¥
But e « «

What was it like when people had fo board and didn’t really
Mave a place of thelr own™ Did that ever cause problems?

Board?
Yes, with anobher family.

Well, if you bosrded...if you boarded with another Tamily
vl ware ab least sure of getbting into bows.

Because they’d make. ...

Because they would bring you. But if you were & bteacher
living in a feacherage and rnobody happened  to go by the
teacherage, you might sit there for two or three weeks.

You certainly didn®t have a car.

A . cwell, they didn®t have cars, no. It was unheard of.
This was...l'm talking about prewar.

Ol ves.
And during bthe war.

Y. I was just looking at Clover _and Wild Strawbervies and
I was looking atb some of the ... two or fThree teachers we
Fad at Big Coules and the times they had and youlre rvight.
They would have Dbeen....but it seemed...] read a few.o..
accounts [fve rvead, bteachers usually seemed fTo....D  think
somebody in the community must have suggested a family that
ey felt would.. ..

O ves. There was always one bthat they would veoommend.
Fecommend.  That it would work  out and... .l imagine there
were oases where bthere was soms unbhappiness and teachers had
Loy leave.

Oh, I think so too...

But that was rave.
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But you kEnow the teachers were....you were oubt there. They
met wyou at the station and took you out and  you had to make
Lthe best of it.
Thats true. There was no use complaining, either.
There was no wse in complaining, you know, Decause...no, you
had to make fthe best of it. I krnow some of those girls used
Lo ooome inoand stay all night  with me and then go, btake the
bus and go oub.

T that right?

Al T oremembey Wws bringing o one man from  Bilohomond Parvk,
some beacher. He'd walked into town.

That wasn’t Hostash?
M. A& teacher at Fichmond Park.
It wasn’t a Fostash. ...

Youwlre thinking  abowd superintendents. wm talking about
teachers.

Oh. Fostash was a supervintendent. Right, right. Oh sure.
He was a great, big English or Irvish fellow.

Ok, I wonmder i your not thinking of.. ..ok, he taught at
Lauwra though, I think....

Oy, was it?

He might have been abt Fichmond Park.  Oh, what was his name?
I owan?t think of it Mrs. Donahue.

Well, I oremembey  wus bringing  him...he went  into Edmonton
with us because we were going dows bto visit at my home,

Harrvington®
Harrington! Ard we found out....you kEnow, he found out that

we were going and  then we picked him up in Edmonton  and
brought him back and this would be about 10 ofclock at night

and  he had to walk  from there to Laura. Now,  we drove
out. . cwotld we oross the river?...no, it must have been the
summer bl me., The ferry, and we btook kinm as far  as you

cowld. . awell, without getiting stuck.

Get through. Yes.
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Cause I don®t just remember what time of vear 1t was. And
then this fellow walked the rvest of the way.

My goodness.
I rmever feld so sorvy for anyone.

al’

For sure.  He staved for Lauwra for seven years 1§ I remember
vight.

He did.

Because I taught there. He was there seven years and then I
think Don Galowich was  there for a year or btwo and then I
came and. ..o did Don teach therve...no, I obhink ke did teach
a yesar. But I no oone thing, bthose kids at Lauwra had never
gone o oa track meelbt and I irntroduced thenm to a track meebs.
I remember that was guite somebhing.

It that right? HNow that was anobther thing we gob btogebher
oft. We gobt btogebther on btrack meebs.

Okl Did you?

But do you know that  the teachers, the teschers had to dig
the pits and do all the work., We mnever got one bit of help.

I think you had mentioned that.
Poy mnevey got oa cent to help with that.

What did you know  about Mr. Findley? When he taught with
voul at Faivhaven.

Moy, I didn’t krnow anything about him.
Yo didn®t, eh? MHe taught with you at Faivhaven though.
Mo, mo. Not with me.

He didn®t? Uhy, maybe you...0Oh, it says in this book...it
said that he taught the high school, or fthe...

Noe Al fred Gorman taught the high scohool,

Yewm, bubt Al fred Gorman was  there as  well. It think it
WEE .
M. Mr. Findley was there in  the early days. He just

Mappened to be one teacher  that Hjordis Overholt told  me
about .
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k. I see. Ok, Fivrest...oh yes, 1t says first feacher,
We Findley. Eebturned from service overseas, 1914-18, later
taught in Athabasca. He taught here?
Yem.  He btaught herve in Athabascoa.
For how long did he bteach here?
A oyear I think.
Aridd then did he...oh, he went to Calgary.

Then he went to Calgary to teach.

Oh sure, oh yes. OB, "Became btwo-voom school in 1938 with
Al fred Gorman, Principal, and Alice B, Donahue juniov  voom
bteacher.” That was it, vyes. Alvight. I had that mixed

L. s OF.  Anything else on schools, Gilda?

Ioan’t think of anybhing but I bet 17 we just kept talking
foor o a little while...o.

Is there anybhing you want to....you Think wes ...

About sochool.

' ojust btrying to think....

I guess we...] told you about the crossing on the river.
Yes, I think you did,

Wetve had that-—the orossing of the river.

With the ferry and the cage.

And the Christmas concerts.

Concerts,  rviaght. I think we did ftalk about some of the
special days like Bt. Valentines Day and valentines and so
o and so we mentioned that.

Yes, we always had parties for that.

Yes, yes, right.

And hal lowe? en. We always had big hallowefen parties. We
didn’t...it wasn®™t like here. Here they have them downbown.
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Yes. That's right. Yoo bhad mentioned that. My mind’s gone
blank now. I can?t think of anything about school. Well if
we think about something, we can always come back to it, eh?
Alvight. So now Gilda, you want to o o...7

f] F

i

Iowas kind of interested in  the more frivolous aspeot
Tife.

Frivolous.
Things like hailrvdressers and whers you gob your. ..
The what?

Whn did your  hair for yvou  and wheve you gobt your clobhes?
That kind of thing.

[} 5 Well we... well, now. We gobt our olothes mostly in
Eodmeonton.

I owas thinking so.

And we gobt our halr done every...every Friday mnight. W
oy haly done.

2]
W

it

ot

Fovr the weekend.
Fov the weekend.
For socializing on the weekend.

For soocializing on the weskend,  And we had many, you Ernow,
different hairvdressers. Gees, Fay Bhaw was one of the esarly
ones. Jean Taylor was an early one.

They would be, eh?

Arnd the store  used to olose. The stores all closed on
Thursday afternoon and they were veally strict. But  if you
wanted your haly done on oa Thursday, somebthing was coming wp
on Friday that  you had  to, or Thursday night, you had b
aneak in the back door and  they would.. .. You would phone
Thiem and fTell them bthat you were coming down and they'd let
vl in.

S o that was  a business like any obther in fTown and 1t had to
e olosed.
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Thatfs right. It had to be closed.

Alvight. What would you pay for a  shampoo and set in those
days™

& shampoo and set, 1t seems to me, was 75 cenbs. I'm sure
it was 7I cents.

Mow, we'd better get the vear, because David always says
"leb's get the years." Now lets see.  This would be in the
early 1940%s,

Oh ves, in the "30s..%40s,

Late "30s, early "40s. It was 75 cents.

I suppose 1t would be 30 cents firvst.

Do oyvoul vecall when it was 30 cents?

ot

Well, I dom?t remember. It wasn't  wvery expsnsive.
vamember the 73,

What would a perm cost?
Well, I didn’t get perms. Bub perms were aboub #1585

They were? Well thabt's guite & lot in comparison to the set
FHOW .

But they were also move complicated.
Move complicated in those davs.
Oh ves! Yes, they....yes, rvight. The big machines.

The big machines. Tell us about  that. I just wvaguely
¥ememiier .

Well, I never had a perm, you know, bubt...
It was like a milking machine almost.

Yes. Like a milking machine., They shoved these things down
o bhe end and then they®d pubt heat through it.

How long a session did  you have...how long did you have  to
sit there?

Well, I think it depended. They took a test curl.

At least anm hour?
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Ohy, T imagine it would be an hour.

It seems to me it was guite time, guite time consuming. My
mobher used to...

S0 that’s where we, you know, did owr shopping, mostly in
Ecmomt o .

In Edmonton.

Because there were no stores here that...
Clothing stores really.

Mot really.

Would you also go in for  seasonal shopping like  in winter
for your winter clothes, boots, and things?

Well, winter. You could buy winbter clothes here bebter.
Ok, you could.

You know,  they were....yes. They had a better variety, or
had a good variety of what you'd need.

But if you wanted a special dress or  somebthing you would
have bt ... '

Special dress.
Gooodinto bthe oiby?
Mow, Mrs. Ssmaka had a dress shop.

Yes, tell wus about that.

Mow she came in  in about 1940, Mow, during fthe time that
she was here we didn’t  have to go to Edmonbon. Ty ememnier

her having to get even...you kEnow, long  dresses for us for
graduation.

Okl my.

That was guite the thing. Because they were almost
nonexistant.

Nonexistant. Did...she did some sewing btoo, did she not?

Yes, she did sewing.
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You could give  her an order and she would  sew for you  as
well.

She would sew for you.

What would a dress ocost now? A nice dress that you had
ordered, a long dress oost?

k. Imewo i should vremember thalt one. ...
I et you have a favorite one.

I bet it would be about %10, as I remember. No, back when I
was in Mew Movrway, yvou paid a lob more.

Dig you?
Yo smes, bthis was warbtims.
Ol 1T see.

About $10 because I remember the Goetsch girvi, T loaned it
to o her for gradustion the year afber.

Ok my goodness. Te thabt.o.o..

It was whilbe.

Ok it was. That's true. The girls in those days...l
vemember  even I did, all the girls winr e  white  for

graduation.  The times have cerbtainly changsd, haven®t they?
Ard they all wore gloves,
Gloves.  Yes, you had fto bhave gloves.

And the graduation, the first graduation, was down in the
waowebhe Immigration Hall.

The first graduation was there?
The first graduation was in Imnmigration Hall.
Year™  What year?

What year™ 19,0 let?s see. . we  should have  that date...
18307 Mo, 427

You mean that was the first?

I don®t think there were any before.
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There weren’t™  Why would that be? Nobody ever...there were
Bigh school classes.

Well, most of them went away for grade 12,

Ok, I see. Alvight., Where would they bhave gons?

To Edmontaon.

Oh. I didn’t know that.

If they wanted to ftake grade 12 they had to go to Edmonton.
I dontt  krnow why  thers was no gradouaation. It was just,
somebody got the bright idea.

T ooy, to have it. Oh. For goodness sakes.  Bo there
were sbtudents graduating prior to fthat. But just....you

Just didn’t have a graduation.

Well I guess they just, either they guit or...l don’t know.
Thers was no graduation.

Mo, o class. Do oyou remember how big & class there would
have been at that time?

Ok, there was only aboubt 10 or 12,

ke T would imagine it would be guite small. You wouldn'®t
remenber any of the students that graduated by any chance?

ITfve got all that stuff...

Ian’t that something. Iwould just be so intrigued to know
who graduated.

Well., Dr. Wright was the guest speaker.

Was he?

Zorma Melson, I think was one. Would Barvy Leahy be ancobher™
It could have been. He was around that age.

There was a HByritus. There was a Byritus.

Byrtus. There might have besn & B.o.one of the Byrtus's.
Yo,

That graduated.
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That was in the f...1% might have Desrn  &Ven S....0 can’i
remenber when Amelia or Anndle Favoluk gradusted. .. or anybody
elese mnorth of. . Gorman,  maybe...one of  fthe Gormans, i
S,

MNo Iodontt remember any of them.

Cantt remember  a Gorman, eh? Ok Let?s get back to the
frivolous stuff. Anything shooking? Hairvrdos?

When did the first mall-order place open™

Oh. We didn’t have a place for mall-order  here. We had
catalogues but they came....you couldn’t...we didn’t have
like a Simpson’s Bears herve, did we?

Ok no.

M.

We had Eaton®s and Simpson’s  catalogues.  You  oould order
through the catalogue.

That's ftrue. Tell us a little about that. That was fun.
Well. That®s where a lot of the gifts were bought for  the
schools I think, was the Eabton's and the Hay...EBaton®s  and
the Bay and Simpson’s Sears.  That would be called Bimpsons.
Fobert Bimpson’s.

That’s right. It wasn't Bears. It was Bimpson’®s.

Yes. They gave you & rveal  good discount. I think for
sohools 14 was alwmost 504U,

Ol ves., Now...Batons, was that based in Winnipeg?
Yes. Winnipeg.

And Bilmpsons?

Was Regina.

Fegina. That was it. Fegina. Alright.

Then of course, the HBay was always....they didrn?t have a
catalogue.

That’s. ...y, the Bay didn't, did they?

But people used to go in and shop in bthere.
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That's rvight. I think Mrs. Byritus was btalking aboulb going
tor bhe Bay shopping.  So...how long would. . .you could order.
They always bhad a form  at the back of the catalogue. Fill

that in with all....

Only about a weel.

About a weebk. aAnd it would come in through the post office.
Came in through the post office.

It was considerably move efficient, wasn®t it7

Well ves., Mors efficient  tThan what it 18 nowe Well nogp oof
Course, you go down here and order. Bubt with the mail.

A weel. That?s good. I didn®t realize it was just the
weelk . I thought it was more.

Well, I don’t fthink it would be much more than a week.

Weslk, week  and a half at the most, I suppose. That was
g E ] d -

Ard of course the mall was sorted svery day.
Fight.
So thab«s

D owondering. .. know, I oremember my  parents ovdering from
the ocataloguwe all  the time, almost, Heoauss we  just
didn*te..

Well it was  about the only  fthing that....the only  way you
el de e

Mow. You people  in town maybe gobt  into the oibty a little
move  often but I know country  people didn’t and that was
oRe. s« That was really a main souwce of shopping. We just
didn®t.e..

And  you see  they...if it didn®t fit, they would take it
right back. There was no problem therve.

Yes. That was the thing about it, wasn’t it. They wer
very good that way. Well, they've up and coming still, =
they must  bhave done well with  the...with the pilonsers,
didn®t they?

e

Oy, I'm sure they did.
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I mean, goodness me.
And the piloneers did well by them because, you know, they...
That®s right. It was a real service, wasn't 1t7

Ard they had sverything, you know, harvdware, tives for your
car, when you had a car.

Fight down to the chains.  To rubber boots for ohildren.

Furniture.

Sriowsuits, dresses, everyibhing. That?s right. They jus
had everything. I dontt know 1f there was jewellery, I

Gliess evela.

Oh ves, jewellery, obh ves. You beb. A&lso jewellery., There
was everybhiing. Anyvihing that you could  name Was in.. . Was
in the Eaton’s catalogus.

About how often would  you  get o Edmonton o do oyour
ahopping™

Well. I odontt suppose  tha...wse didn®t go that offen. Yl
ko,  we could  gooany day. Yoo know, bescause  the rvoads

wWere, youl know, velabtively good and then there was  the bus.
See I think the bus...

Yeu, we've alwavs had bus servios.

Five dollars return, you could go down o BEdmonton and back.
Mow yvou had o get on o bthe bus at & ofclock in the morsing
and you got back oub here. ..

GBuite late at night.

fluite late at night.

Where was  the firvsdt bus  depot? A what year  would that

firste..?
Down by the hotel.
O sure. The hobel, eh?

And  the first bus driver fthat...were two fellows from
Colinton starbted it.

The names? Do oyou remembey the names?

Collins.
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Collins. Any relation to the Collins that are there now?
Yeo. Those are the Collins.
Those are the Dollins. I ses.

Yes, And they started the bus. It was called the ... what
was it called? énd then Greyhound finally took 1t aover.

Greyhound finally took over and then we had a new...
We had a bus depobt built...

We had a bus depot there, of course, that burnt down. It
burnt....who.e.was it...who ran that?

Sept Poulton.

SBept FPoulion.

FLaiie e e o YES.

That was a shame. When was that new one bullid? I remember
I was going to....high school or university....must  have
Deera. .

Were you?

Yes. P osure.

Trv the *50s,

In the late *50s. It was in the late "40s or esarvly "50s.

Must have been in the *50s.

But it...it did burn down and they never did rebuild that,
did they?

M. Mo they didn®t.  They just...

N That was a shame. Thern from there where did we go?
Back to the hobel?

Well didn’t....yes, we went back fto the hotel  and then a
garage btook it over.  Gulf.

Gul f Garage™ Is that rvight...whoo..
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Jobinmy Bhtyohin.
O oyves, O course.
Andg of course, now 1t's a way up at the...

Yes, ab fthe Inn. That's right. For gquite a few years 1t
was abt Johnny Stychin®s Gulf Service station. That's rvight.

What year would it be that the fare was 35D to Edmonton™  Ifm
gust thinking of fteachers getting %50 a month and then %5 to

Edmornton. « o«

Well, that would be all through the, through the war years.
I don®t know when it went up to...

Pm o brying o think what it is....
That was 3 reburn.

P trying to think what I paid when I went to University in
the *H0s. It seems to me like about 7, o something.

It may have bheen up by that time. Bub it used to be $5.
And that was rvebturn, as you Say.

Weld go downieseswe’d usually go down to conventions.

By bus, eh?

By bus at firvst, and fthen, then I started driving., And fthen
I'd take them all down.

That’s right. You always had a car load, didn’t you?
Always had a car load, ves. I should say.
How often were bthe conventions held? Was it7%

Once a yvear.

And of course,  you had them in  the fall at that btime. In
October, wasn®™t it?

When you. ..

Then of course, they changed to February not that long ago

really.

Mot that long, no.
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Maybhs in the last...

BHut you  see, even in SBeptembesy  and October,  you...we had
some pretlby bad roads to come back on.

That®s right, that's rvight. Yes

It wasn’t always....1it was great going in.  FHeally great.
Well the rvoads weren’t that good...when  the new highway
fimally made things a lobt bebtter and that was buillt in what?
1aELy

The bridge was built in P32,

That would have maybe came before thatb.

I vemember when they cut the vibbon, Lauwra Scobt and I took
our classes down o see bthem cub the ribbon.

S that must have bheen. ... .wasn't  that before the bridge
opening®

I think so.
Yes it was. S0 maybe....how many vears before that?
Soodit owould be in P50, mavbe.

P50, Souwnds about rvight. It would probably be in the
Eohos,

Ses, they'd want dates and we should have bthese.

Yes. Thatts something we could find in the Echos. It would
e there., Yes. That....and then of ocourse, that was one
thing to have the road built, but then it wasn’t paved

either, was 1t7

Mz It wasn’t paved.

When did...when did it get...when was it paved? See, T
should  even remember that. But I just don®t  right now.
ANYWaY .

I remember when they built the road  from the ...the vall
voad up on top and Iosbtill used that wvalley road for the
longest tTime.

Is that right?

It always seemed to be so picturesgues and so nice.
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Yo, Thatfs a beautiful drive. It?'s...1% is.e-that’s for
ST €.

Mow, what obther frivolous?
What other frivolous things are you thinking aboub, Gilda?

Tm onot really sure.  You said you would have your haily done
fior parties. What were the parties like?

O Well, there’'d be curling parties, vou know, from
curling or there would be....well, the teachers had parties.

Staff parties.
Staff parties. Yes.

Would yvou  have parties in comnection  with Mr.  Donahue’s
wor kT Would yvou have a party for his... for the staff?

(O for the staff, ves, staff parties.

Where would you hold those?

Well, mostly here in the house.

Theytd be at your house. Is that right?

Well, you ses, owy house WAaS...youw Enow, was bigger. Those
LTwite » o« Bhe living room was large and so we'd have the staff
party here.  And then the town parties.

Ok yes.  You must btell us after. Mro Donahue was mayor  for
guite a number of years. That's right. You would have the
Council, the Town Council.

Conne il parbtiss, ves. {0h, and then there was Chamber of
Commerce parties and  Fed Oross parties and....there just
seened bto be partiss galore.

That’'s right. It was a very active, busy btime.

Ard then we had the shows at Parkers Hall, theatre.

Movie thealbvre, yves.

But vouw ses, everybody curled in the winter tims.

Fight., That was a popular....

at was very, very popular and everybody did it.  You know,
you GUust. ...
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We did take part in those things...3o ahead, Gilda.
I was  just wonderving, were you involved in Mr. Donahue®s
mayoralty campaign. And what kind of extra dubties did it

impose on youw, bao be the mayorts wife?

The first year, the first vyear that Mr. Donabue was the
mayor, whioch was his firvst term™ What year?

MNow,  that T...Well, he was o the Councill for years and
vears before that.

Before that.

Yol Sed. Okhy you mean what....well not foo much, but then
there were the odd people yvou had too..bhe odd people.  The
different people you had o entertain. You  krnow, Decausse
they were herve to some meebing ov somebhing, bub  you'd just
have tTo have them for a meal.

Oby, oyou did have to pub..

A bhat wused to be a problem.

Sure.

But then this was ow dinlng voom, you Sée.

Ok was 167 Oh, so youwlve had it changed considesrably.

Well, the upstairs.....bthe bedrooms were all upstairvs.  And
the ftwo bedrooms were....bhe living room was 11 by 24 and
then you crossed the hall here into this dining room and
then into the kitchen. S0, you Enow, youo jush....you gob
voury meal veady  and on the dining room table. Yo weren®t
crowdad. That made a lot of difference.

How many terms was Mr. Donahue mayor?

He was on his thivrd when bhe had to rebtive.

fi
ot
fod

Fetire vight. For 111 health. Y., Third, yves. W
that’s...

o fthat would be going on about the nine years.
Mirne vears. Three year berms?

Three yvear...so it was...he finished a six year term and
then mavbe...a year and a half on the nexst one.
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Sooowhen did he..s s owhen was the....that last vyvear. What was
Ris last year that he was mayor?  That would bs 19--7

.
1964,

Lets see. I think I wrote that all down one btime. I*il
I

mae LT can find out here. Mayor from Y61 bto P35, It was
PES.  That couldn®t be. Is it & thres vear term, or fwo
year?

Well maybe it was a two yvear fterm  then. I'm omot up on
politics. I know we came here in P65 P just trying bto

think whabeaw.

Yesm., He resigrnsd as mayor. HMe rvetived from the Creamery.
Before, in &4,

O did he? I see.
Thatts right.

Have  you gobt some obher interesting tidbits thers yvou can
give us?

Well, you krnow, he came here in 37, fto the Creamery and at
that ftTime they bought cream and made bubtter.

Yes, they did.

A youw could buy. .. just ogo oat the office and  buy  your
butter.

Yea, you could and chesse too, abt that time.
Moy, not cheese,

Later on they had chesse.

Moz

They nevey madse cheese.

We never made cheese,

I think they must have brought it in.

You could bring it in.  Yes, right.

And of course, they graded sgos, sh?
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I 1944 theg Oreamery expanded and it was rebuilt.
Fasbteurized cream, graded eggs, and bought poultry.

by you bought poultry as well?

O ves. Mr. REavoluk was one of  our ohief.. . heads  of

CHAF . e e Bhey used bto buy down in the old Lesard building. He
WERE OVET SEET .

Yo mean bthe farm peoples would bring 4% in to the...o.?

And  they would go oub..and they would  go oub by trucks and
Bring...

Ohy theyd go out and get them?

And bring the poultry in.

Would it be...live pouliry?

Moy no. Dressed. Oh, it was all dressed poulbry.
Soobhe farm people had that to do first.

Ard they would ship oubt many, many carloads of poultry in a
VEET . Iy in...at Christmas time.

How did they....they had no refrigeration?
We had refrigerating cars...vefrigevator cars cams in.
They did?

And they were all graded and put  in there and sent to
Monmtreal, I think.

Is that rvight?

Do you  remember the year that the refrigerator ocars firvst
came in’?

That would be dn "84, 0005438, ... "¢,

Well, I didn®t krnow that. How muoh were chickens a pound?
Gg@eew b ww-yould pay about $5-6 for a good turkey.

For a turkey.

A ogoocd, bDig bturbey.

So chickens couldn®™t have bDeéeen. e eanoew @
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They wouldn't have been very much I don®t think., Nob like
They are...bthey?re gquite expensive now days.

Mow, ves. That’s what you pay Tor a chicken now. Hut in
those days I suppose yvou could have bought a chiocken for 735
cents oy a dollar.

Oh yes, I'm sure. Seventy-five cents o a dollar.
Fogs. How muach were eggs a dozen?

Theyd be about 30 cents I fhink.

A oream?

& five-gallon can of oream brought them five dollars, and I
was talking to Louils Paguebtte the other day, he had & cream
cart in his btruck, and I said "Oh, do oyou ship oream™” and he
mald "Yes, we dol” Ao it owas a five-gallon can. They getb
B4, B0 for oa five-gallon can of oream.

But we gebt a lobt morse fthan $£0 a8 month boo.
Y.,

But you kEnow, youw know, that money from eggs and aorveam, that
wWas  erough, I vemember my mobher offen  sayving, that was
encugh o buy to weebkly grocsries.  Guite often.

Well, that’s what they lived on, wasn’t it7
That was what fthey lived on.

They didn’t have to draw on the grain and the stoock that was
sold.

That¥s rvight. They wused that I suppose....the large anounts
of money they used for, well, in the sarly days, to pay the
farm loans off  and to buy machinery and that sort of thing.
Interesting. For goodness sabkes. O, Go ahead.

I remember Mrs. Orest used to coms...bhring her  oream
ins..she’d bring a five-gallon cream can in...and then shefd
come right around and get a $35 advance.

Wouwld she™

Well so she could do her shopping before.....bhefore it was
graded and ready. And then she could go back home.

Docan still see all those oream cans piled on the soubth side
of the ore Y'Y

R anie
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That's right.

You would take youwr oream and your eggs, whatever, in there,
and then you'd go shopping, and  then just before you were
going home the  farm people  would stop  and pick  up theilr
oreamn chegues.

That?s right, that's the way it was.

Ok Eo ahead Mrs. Donabue.

Well nowe.. was it CLiFf you were asking about?

Yes, thats good.

Well C1iff, he was ftwesnty-Tfive vears on the sxecubive of fthe
Chamber of Commerce  and  fifteen vyvears as  secretary-
treasurer. He was made a life member of the Curling Club.
Was he?

Aand he was a Tharter member of the Golf Club.  &nd he was on
the sxecubtive of the Agricultural Soocisty. And he  was 25
yvears with  the Civilian Commitbtes of the Alr Cadebts. HNow,

Mr. Bayless, was the man.

Was  bhe man heve as far a Alry Cadets were concerned, bthat’s
right.

And then.. . .then he sponsored the Dairvy Club from 1959 on.
That was specifically for the kids....?

It was just the Dairy Club, that's right.

Wowuld that be something like the start of 4H today, o what,
wolld there be any connection?

It was <H.

It was «4H. Part of 4H.

I think it was called the ¢4H Daivy Club.
O ves.

I think it was under...it was under the &M then because the
Elrver bovs werse i it.

Yoo,
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Arigd then TLIFT was on the Councill for 17 vears and thenae ...l
b 3

seen bTo...1it wasn’t 7172 years. His first yvear as mayor
must have been 61, Bo it must bhave been a two-yvear bterm.

It must have been two yvears.

That's right. HBo, anyway, that’s......

He was a busy man.

Y,

Very active.

Yes., Well, we were bobh so active that, you  know.  Well in
curling time youtd just meet one anobther going ouwb the door.
Hefd be goding owb with his broom and I%7d be coming in with
md e .

Youw still  fowsd fime o have this wonder ful teaching carveer
and Mr. Donahue ran the business. My goodrness.

Yeum.

i

That's somebthing, isn’t 1t7
That's somebthing. Bubt there were no dull moments.

I guess not.

Yoo didn®t have  bto worrvy  aboub your.s.oeecabout yvour sooial
life.

Do oyouw remember any funny incidents, O, D uRisual
incidents  that happened as  far  as  youwr soocial  life is

oo ey e T

Sooial life....ges, likely lots of it.

Yes, if you could think back on them.

If I could just think back on some of these.

Ay famows o important people who came to Athabasca, do oyou
vamemnber T

Important people? In later yvears.
For example?

Well, we had lots of Liberals coming.
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Is that right?

I"ve forgotten who,

This was Liberal counbry?

It was Liberal country in  those days....Mr. Faloconer.  éand
then there was the old-timers....they had card parties every
two weeks in the Vets Hall.

The old-timers?™

We belonged to the old-timers.  And then the Red Oross, we
had a tea severy year in the Vebts Hall.

For the general public.
For the general public, and that was the Junior Fed Uross.

Oh  yes, because [ remember you putting on teas at the
Elementary Sohool.

Well once they started selling liguor at the Vets?, well, we
Mad to move oulb.

Oy I see.

But that was thewse...the Vets' Hall was the social centre.
Now, when you say the Vebts! Hall, you mean the old.....
The old Legion.

That’s what I thought you meant.

Y,

That was the centre of & lobt of social activity.

That was the centre of...right at the top of the street.
Yes.

Every tea was held there, everything was.

Was 1t7

If you wanted to know what was going on, just walk up there.
That's where you'ld see 1t.

What’s on that site now?
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Ok, the SAAN store.
The SAAN store.

Unfortunately. I always liked that old building. I hated
to osee 1t Qoo

Ol yes. That's too bad. & bad mistake that they...

I think so too. I really  doo Just such a historic....You
wouldn’t  know when  that was built? That must have been
Built....?

The Legion? Oh, I did the article on the Legion.

Yoo odid? O, Then we have it some place. That was an old
building, I know.

But it was built in *14, after '1d4, maybe '20. I can’t
think of any...any real...

You can’t think of anything humorous, eh?

Mo . really funny.

Was there any connection between the 4H and the school?
M. Mo, the 4H was....was separate.

Mr . Hocel George Gicscded whim WS the District
Adgriculturalist at that time...

At that time...

Would probably had a lot o do with organizing 4H, eh?

Ok, ves.

He was guite active in, in helping the farmers.

That’s rvight. They'd....Clif{ just sponsored it, you Enow.
Yes.

But he organized it.

He organized it.

Ol ves.

He was gquite good with a lot of..... aow
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Ok, ke was excellent!
Wasn®t he though.
I think he made this country.
He made ftThis country.
He really did.

Because it was a farming arvea and [ think bhe did so much to
Felp the farmsrs. I okrow Mr. SBhalapay tallks highly of bhin

Oy well he did so much.
He really did.

Well, ask Verna Guay.

T that right?

He just  mades 1t so pleasant for  these young marvied people
that they would stay on the Tarms.

T that right?

Well he tried to educated  them, you know.e To tell  the men
that youwfve got to make it comfortable for yvour wWives....

Fuorr youy wives, o bthey'd be happy.
Yo know, and it was just.....yes.

And he taught then different farming methods and introduced
different things. Yes, bhe was good.

Yes. And he was always so good with, you know, there was no
Miome ecoromist,; and bhe sort of did that work too,

Is that right? He was  here for guifte a number of  vears,
wasnft he™

Twenty—-five yvears or somsthing?

I suppose we have  bthat somewhere btoo, haven™t  we? He was
PP ¥
Mrere when you came?

Moy o
He wasn’t.

He came after.
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They cams after you people did? Ok, I see.

Yes, he was a great person all right.

He was. They were a very nice family, that’s for sure. Ok,
Gilda, have you  gob some mnove ideas  here? Mo, youwlve gotb
community disasters.  Can you think of anythink drastic that
appensd during your time herve.

Well, we had guite a number of fires.

Fives.

Whichkh were....you know, were pretty bad. But  we had one
fire when the Immigration Hall burned and two children were

hurned to death.

That's right. I think we mentioned that didn®t we? The
Sales,

The Sales.

The Bales children, yes. aAnd then  the odd, the store that
we had. ...

The sxplosion.
A}
The explosion. LandBP¥S. ...

1)
Landi®s Stoare, and then Silvers? over here. Mrs. Silvers
| J 4
yvou vememnber, she was blown oub of the house.

Oy, T don®t remember that. Tell us about fthat.

That was Easbter btime. I wasn®t here but....bthat was in
1951.

Oh, I don't remember that. I should, but I dontt. Did she
Survive 1t7

She survived, yes.

Did she? The house was demolished?

It was a lealk.i.eeeneawweMot completely.

Did  they veturn then? Did they fix 1t up and return to the
Foouse? They did, eh? 1951, Alrvight, any other things

that vou can remember?

Well, I think those are the two big disasters.
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Disasters, yves. There was a floodi.ooeesowsell, wefve often
Rad floods but nothing really that serious.

Mobhing really disasbrous, o
Mobhing serious.

There was a ohild burned in & house  just  behind the
Dy S amery.

Was bthere™
That would be back in about 1939,
Te that rvight? What was the Tamily?

Well, I don®t know the name, bubt I think they were relabed
ta the Overackers.

Is that right?
Lived bhack there.

Was there any kBind of voluntesr amatewr five depariment?

O ves, we had a fire department. Sure. They ran, pushed
the carts ahead of them. Fulled them. We've always had a

firve deparitment.

Voluntesr five depaviment.

Always had a volunteesr five depariment.

SE Long &8s you can vemember being in herve, &b Yes.

For all the years I was here there was a volunbteer...

Yes. The ferry....what vyear did the fervy break away...or
was  it, did it happesn btwice? I seem to recall somebody
saying somebthing abowt  it, it got away twice on them.  Bub
once I know for o oa  fact it did get  away and  go down bthe
river.

That's when Art LaPorte was o, wasn't 187

Art Laporte was the ferrye.oes«fend of btape, side A

NMow, Mr. Laporte, &rt Laporbte Sve, WaS.....

Was on the ferry. And dide?t 1t go downe.ooit broke loose
and went down around the bend.
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The bend...where the bridge is.
£:3:

How dide..how  did that ever...how  did they  sever stop 1187
Dicd it just...

Well, I think....I think it went inta the shore.
Thats what I fthought, ves.

I dontt know how else they would...

You don®t remember anvihing else about that?
Well that didn’t happeé..,I wasn’t here.

Ho that happened before 1937,

Yes,

Ard it didn’t get away on them again after...since you were
Mere.

Nz, never. Just the cage.

Just the cage.

That’s rvight.

Ok,

What happened to the cage?

Well, you know, one wheel.o..! don?t krnow, something went
wrong and it did...sort of jerked and one wheel came of f the
cable 80 we were hanging  just by one whesl  and the ice
coming down just churning.

Chunks and chunks of it, eh?

i

You  know, just within about that far was the botbtom of th
ferry...you know, the cage.

Fow did they rescus you®  Did they get a fellow tow...
Yes, bthey got  Bobby Miller. Babby Miller was  coming down

the street  from home, going to work at  the....the livery
barn, and he saw uwus and he ran and got the firvemen's ladder
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and put it up. Rosie was able to kind of orank so fthat we
could kind of get it back a 1ittle bDit. Ses we were afraid
o do anybhing because we thought fthe other thing would give
WEY
Yes., Do theres were a few btense moments, eh?

Oh ves. I should say.

How many people were on it that time?
Just Fosie and me.

Just the two of you.

The two of us.

o Bosie LaPorte was thee.oos.

Was vunning the cage.

Funning the ocage then. A whio was before  him® Do you
vememnber, was there anyore before him?

Well, Mr. Garton was bthere.
My . Garton.
Mr . Sarbton and RBosie LaPorie.

Argd after  that it seemed  to ome Mr.o, not Porteous, but the
obher fellow out in Fairhaver,...

Davidson™
Moe  Forgotten his name, therve was anobher Tellow.

Mr. GHarbton and Rosie LaPorte were vunning it when  L.o...and
Fitman, Mr. Pitman.

Fitman, whiach Mr. FPitman would that be? Nobt from Colinton™

Moy, e Fitman that wused to be here alb fhe....worked at the
¥

Fosmpital.

Ok, I see. O We have somebthing here aboubd immigration.
I ojust found out that there was a Immigration Hall before we

Mad the one down. ..

Y,
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Towas telling you.o Do oyou remember?  Ohy roo. Thatts
PaOs. There was somes dmmigrabtion, some pesople coming in
guess When you were herve.

Yes, bthere was some.  REosie LaPorte lived over
kimd of looked after it.

He did.

there and

He and Jean, and then there were the odd ones coming.

Yes, it was at that point already.

Most of them were coming o relabtives or friends
hat?s right. Yes.

S owe didn’t ses boo much.

It wasn®™t used...it wasn®t ussed that much, was i
i oearly bimes.

N If anybody came, they came to frisends.
Friends, yes.

Did wou notice when you came, was the Depression

serious here or was it beginning tao ease up a bi

Oh, it was prebtty serious. Wasn’t 1it7 In 737.
It was.
§

Yewm, in TE7.

Well it was aboub...it was...bthe Depression
#arlier than that wasn®t 1t7%...about P33,

Well the Depression started in when...

¥
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Mot until labtsr I guess.
Mo And it took longery o geldt up here boo.

Yesm, it seems o ome bthe parents werve talking ab
in there. Yes, but by "37...

t, as

£7

Wl

9, but then of course we didn®t feel it oub west.
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it was
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Well, by Y37 it was rveally bad.
It was, eh?

Well, Iowonladn?t say....nobody suffered  beoause. . omost of
them lived on a farm.

A farm, that's rvight.

And they had lobts to eatb.

Thats true.

fnd thern, you ses, war broke oub in P3%9....

Ardd rationing Ccams L. ..

And the rationing came in. PET7-TEEL. Those may  have been
the roughest years and yet I don’t think anybody was
hungery. .« they didn’t have all the things maybe that they’d
Tike fTo bhave, bub...

There was, probably the odd  family that...that had a hard
time of it bub....] don't koow L the Depression veally had
that muck to do with it It was just that they wers having
& hard time all along.

What happened was  that & 1ot of people moved from Hanna and
the dried out areas, and from Saskatohewan, and moved  into
this area.  You  know, like the Lisks, yow koow,  that moved
i there.

I haven’t heard that name, Lisk. Is that right?

Yes, lived on the bank there just by Failrhaven.

I haven't heard the name.

Ancd youd see, bthey ocame in with nobthing and so it was  harvd
CPod Fig .

It was hard, Tt was hard. Move so than the people fhat
cames earlier and were move sebiled.

Yo, bthey were sebitled.
Yes., Although I do remember there are a few names north  of
&

The river fTthere that we mever....LD've pever knows  bthe
people, welve just....bthe name stuck.  They named them afier
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the early people who lived there I guess. I think. That’s
fog Sure. Well I think Tom Sorman was  telling «.onaming a
few of them, and of course we never knew them. They were
long gone before. ...

Befors you Camé..

They just gave up I guess. He said they just literally gave
up and left.

Well I think that’8.eesaswe & lot of fthem just moved in and
meovesd ot again and didntd. ..

Maybe they stayed for a year o two and  just found it very
bough, that’s right.

Who was the girl that marvied the Molullough boy®
Dom? Whiiockh MoOoallough? Don'?

Do Mo Cul Lough

Because. . . Do ..

They lived down in bthe valley down...

They did..

Ard who were those.. ..

But that was...that was the obther way...going to LaPorte’s

Store, and there were S pecple called Thornes.
Didn't.wathey weren’t relabted were they? Thornes and

MoCulloughs, they weren'i.
Mo, o

Dorn MoCwullough is.e...It  seems  to ome  ['wve  talbked to Don
MoCullougha. .o e..

Fomalie!

Foesal e

Fomal ind!

Fosalind Thorne? Qas she a Thorne?

Moy, oy she wasn®™t Thormne. I remember she camse in and

shtayved with me and went....and ftook Sthe bus  that ons
e L nig .
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Is that right?
But they werve people Wit w e v w = s displaced people from
Edmonton  came out and I think, ftried fo make & living. He
was  working in Edmonton and he  got o oa farm oubd here or
somebthing for her to live on.
Yes. Yes, it was nearer...on the way to the store.
But they didn’t stay too long.

Near Derven’s. Near Jobhn Deven’s.  No they dide't stay long.

Was there still bhomesteading going on oat that fime?

Fardon?
Homesteading? Was it still possible to gebt a homestead at

that time?

Yo, There were homesteads up on the norvth side of  the
rieea.min this side of the river bubt way wup in....beyond
Grosmont . Those were....and those were typioal homssteads I
think.

Y,

But the homesteads now they were gebbting, are costly, aren’t
Lhey?

They are.
But at that time they weren’t.

They were...bthere was a lobt of land north of  é&thabasca
because that becams populated la..coeans in later years, I
guess, bthey're finding. B0 therve were, there were, in fact,
I guess  there are still homesteads out there I you wanbed
toe e ayou know, 1f you wanted fo....people are still getting
homesteads. Bub farther and farther, closer to Zalling Lake
now, that’s, we're talking about now  so.... .o abhead Gilda,
youfve  got oa  thought. GHarbags oollecbion you  have, and
ancther municipal services. When did we gelt garbage.....did
vl have garbage pilokup?

Sure.
Yo did?

Well, I imagine, ves. I don’t remember. And we had milk
delivery.
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That was true. We had milk delivery. You had milk delivery
when you cams to Athabasca? In 1937387

Yes, bthat's rvight. And Lt wasn't pasteurized. It was
unpasteuwrized milk brought in by Mr. Hagen.

Walter Hagen?
Walter Hagen's father.

Was that right? Was he the only supplier of milk to the
Lo

He was the only...well the Schultes before that.
Ok

Sohultes delivered.

i

Yes.  And then....wsell;, when did you say pasteurization came
in?  You don't vemember. 0K,

RDidn't I say that?

Maybe you did.

What did I say about pastewrization? Well, it must have
beern about somewhere in the 405, I remember 1t was guitbte

Hawenguite a deal.

fuite a deal, eh? Somebody. .. «somnebody suddenly  decided
that...

Mr. Godel.

fhy, Mr. Godel was instrumental inae ..

Yes, he was the one who pushed it. SBuzanne gobt. ..
TE

Whatever that was.....

Ohy, of couwrse, btuberculosis.

Was that TRY

O yes, she was in the sanitorium.

Ohy 1 see. Well, anyway, he blamed it on the milk.

O dear.
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Thatts the start of it. I remember she missed guite a lotb
of school and then when she came back she was, you Enow,
cuite  bived still. I remember going to ses her, in fact.
Gfter I went Lo University she was still...and then she came
back and took half days and she was resting. So that was
the start of 1t.

Yesm, that was 1t.
Tean?t that interesting?

That was the start. Well, I mean the doctors, of  ocowrse,
got. . Wright away they gobt on this.o...

On this, eh?
Getbing pasteuwrization.

But I do remember  the milk delivery. We  atill had wmilk
delivery, or Athabasca did, when we came heve in 1965, bulb
asoorn afterwards —  do o youw recall when sxactly? - theyv...

They quit? Well mo, it

i was after they.o..after  the Valley
Dairy sold out. See, the

Valley Dairvy sold out din 70—

T

iy =3
PEG or YeD
Well, we had milk in *85, the winter we came.

. Well fthen 1t was in 65 that they sold  fto the Alberia
Dairy Pool.

I see.
Donft wou vemember we had little ftokens.

Ve, Yes, We had tokens. Every house that was bullt bad g
milk ochube.

Yem, right.

oo bhat youw could leave youwr  tokens in bthere and  pub your

little order in. If you wanted cream, they had oream, or
whatever, and left your milk there. I it was winter you

came home from school it was a little frozen, bubt nobt  fto
W T Y .

Mo, ot o worry about it. Tan't that somebthing™
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That?s right. They had tokens fTo save Tthe money,
yvout o swhere  would we  buy these tokens? Dich  we geb them

from the milk....?
At the Ureamery, o from the milk man.

Y g

i

« You bought mayvbe a  weesk's supply, or somebthing.  That
ik

£
i

And the milk man brought all the news.

Yes, you could stop and visit.

Between the garbage man and the milk man, Satwday morning I
wintilod get all  the news of the town.  ALL you had o do owas
be  oub thers to empiy....taking  youwr garbage out and you’d
talk to the garbage man.

Soooyow book it out where the garbage man would come by, you
frave them in the back yvard.

Yes., We bhad them in the back. -
In cans, and then they would. ...

But I suppose  then I suppose T....likely I gobt  mine out
there about the time that he was due to pilok it wup.

He would coollect on  Saturdays at  that fTime, sh? Once a
e
i

wee

g

Must have been Satwrdays and then the milk man would come.

&

But milk delivery was daily, wasn’t 187 O was 1§87 Yes, 1t
was. Lerbainly.

It was daily.
Daily, yves.

o

o that was. ...
You said you bought btokens o save money™

Mo. Just to save bthe transaction. I you were gone it was
#asy bToe... you kEnow, you paid  for o so many tokens  for the
weak Tan®t  that right? And then you would just put your
two tokens. ...

The thing was that they had a lot....thsey had & lob of
complaints where  the kids were taking the money oub of the
bottles.
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Okhy, of course, of Ccourse.
That's what started it really. A then of  course the

tokens were of no valuwe o them.

Of mo value to fthem. Well, we couldn’t mess up. Mow  you
mentioned Valley....what was the name that you....?

Valley Dairies.

Valley Dairies. Who was involved in that?
CLiff and M. Bmith.

Mr. Smith. Now which Mr. Bmith?

Well, he was Harold Smwith from Edmonton. Now his son s now
Mread of the Alberta Dailry Pool.

s that so? 1 see. o when that happened.. ..

Wayrne Berg sold....when Wayne Berg left heve he wanted to
gell o Towmmy and C1i§1, and...

Mow when you say Tommy, bthat’s Tommy Maclean™

Yes.  Bubt they werent....well Tommy was more inbterested in
™ and things. S0 anyway they....Mr. Smith bought  and then
CLiff bought in with Mr. Smith.

Oy 1 see,

oo that’s how we got irnvolved.

S owhen  they quit the wmilk delivery, did that....did that
Mave any effect on the business? The Oreamery?

O I don®teee.well, it was a dairvy pool then, and they WET &
cutting down omoa 1ot of things.

On a lobt of things, eh™
So that.seas

I suppose Once ....once bthat gquit then the store people, the
grocery stores gob bthelr milk.

They handled it then from the Oreamery.

From then on. And they got thelr milk from  the Creamery,
and it was still in bottles, wasn®t 1t7 i
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Yes, right.
Mow I'm just ftrying to think....
Oh, did they get the cartons?

P just btrying to think went the cartons.....when did the
cartons come 10T

They ocame in...VYalley Dairvies, [ think, had them.

For ewample, now, we get  milk from Northern  Alberta Dailry
Fool.  When did that....owhen was  that.o..when did that come
in?

That's was in....bthat was when Valley Daivies sold out.

Then Northern alberta Dairvy Fool.

To Morthern  Alberta Dairvy Pool. Bay Gilda, put that light
ofy she can't see a thing.

We?ve gobt Klondike Days. [ guess we mentioned that onoce

before, The big, big time we went to Bonavenbure there.
That was one of  the big things. We wsed to have The...we
usad o have Flondike Days celebrated bhere at the Communiby
Centre. I don®t know when they started that because Mrs.

Appleby was very actively involved in that, wasn’™t she?

Yes, she was head of bthe. . .of the program and Jord Hess was
hread of  the gambling and then there was the committes that
hrad the Elondike.

Oh, I see.
didn’t we?

Like I said, we had the dancing girvls and all,
Oy, vight! Was it ever great, gee.
Did it ever cause conflict in the communiiy?

Fardon™

Did it ever cause conflict with the more fundamentalist:
parts of the community?

The gambling, you mean™
Yes.

Noe  If you didn’t want to gamble, I think, you stayed home.
You know, I gjust don’t think that..... '
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Well, I bknow...what T mean is  that she was the lady  who
rievery mind  hery teaching, it had rnothing to do o with  it, ik
was bthe work she did for 40 vears.

That's right.

Ancd Madine Fiselyk said "Well never mind Alice. We were
lucky to have her for 40 years and there’ll never be anoiher
o Like her." and therve never will be.

That?s for swure. Oh, that’s for sure.

A here they...bhey fuss and fuss about naming 1t.

ALL right. So.  Obthey services. What other  services would
we have had?...Well, we had milk delivery, garbage, we said,
whalt other...would we have had obber servicss?

The voluntesy five deparbment.

Our voluntesy five deparvbtment.

Yem, voluntesr five odrill, and then we had....ob, of course,
that was just reading the meters and fThings....bub..

O ves, the mebter man.

But that was...bob then fthat would be...it would just come
maturally, wouldn?t 167

Y.

This was the gas?

What obthsy service? Pardon?

It must be for gas.

Moy, we didn’t get gas wntbil ~ 748 was 187 - we gobt gas.
Toddon®t BEnow.

T wouload be walber mebters?

Waber mebers.

Water meters, yves. And slectricity.

A electric power.

Electric power.
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That’s right.
Ard when the gas came in was it TOH?
My . Tt was from Estevan, Saskabtohewan.

What was  the name....was  there a name to bthe company™ |
guess thers was, was there?

Yes, bhere was. What was  tThe name of 187 The firvst  man
that was here was Mr. Hilowatt. We called bhim Mr. Eilowatt.
{h, what was the name of that company.  Bub they  were from
Estevan, Saskabohewan. Ard then the Northern. .. Norbthern
Electric took it over, o Norbthern Power btook it over.

Yes, that sounds familiar.

Ard then they sold  out o o..eohy, Dominlon was fthe...the

firast was Dominlon. Dominion from Estevan. And then
they...this other took over and ....they fook over  in
v bhern Alberita and  the Ehrer  boy worked  for them. He

abill works for them in Grande Pralvie.
Doves he?

That company is still in swistanoe.

Btill existance...well.

But, now we have, what do oyouw oall 46 now?
Well, we had Calgary Power.

Mz, but the gas.

Ohy, that’s gas, that's right. Transalta, That's right. I
cdon’t know what you have herve.

Horvible handwriting., Bill Wood.

Oh, that was in connection with Klondike Days.
With the what?

With Hlondike Days. He was involved in that.
Who?

Bill Wood.,  That would be Freida’s husband.

Ol ris. Mot then.
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Mot then, eh?
Mot din bhose Elondike Days.
Mot in the early days?

Hi s pichure’s bty that..ooyouire thinking of the
plobure. .. o, moy Bill Woods wasn® .

Ok, But ke did take that trek by horse...on ...,by..;
Oh, that was the Klondike., That was the Trail Ride.
Trail rvide, ves.

Trail ride.

Actually, he'd Dbe...was he...now..he's an old-btimer  from
around here isn’t he? He'd be a good one to talk to, too

Yem,  he would be & good one. Bub 1T don't vemember him at
all in the Hlondike.

[ ALl vight. Building of...you?ve  gob bullding of bhigh
gohosl here. Now, that’s going back o school. Do oyou want
to talk  about that, Gilda? Well voufve gobt also
wWhiat...ooolubs  and sociebies. Aotually, we've gob only 90
minuwbtes on the tape so maybe  we want to....wefve talked a
Little bit  aboubt clubs and societies, haven't we?™ Duite &
ok, &h?

The high school and the library?

Well, the library was established in 1946,

Pk,

A Mr. Hodgeson was the  firvst chairmarn, and PMrs.

Manceksvill was  fthe first librarvian, and 1 was the first
secrebary.

Were yvou®  And that was dows at the old Provinoial Puilding..
That was in the old Town Hall.

by the old Town Hall.

A Mras. Moore’s daughter and two or fThves givls wovbed and
we gobt donations of books.  That's how we started out.

Did you? From where would you get these books?
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Well, from people and then we wrote to the Bay and Woodwards
and Eatons, and then to  the elevator companies and things
and they sent us money.
Well.
And we bought the books.
Oh my goodness.
Ard then of course, we got the grant.
Mice little start, eh?
Arnd then we had.....until we became a municipal library, we
had to depend on the different organizations  to give us
M EY .

Ok, dic you?

Like there was a Legion and the Masons, Eastern Star, Elks,
Foyal FParple, and the churches.

And the churches.

And some of the bridge clubs.

Is that rvight? When did you become a municipal librarvy?

I 1869, I think it was.

And youw've  been with the library for  all these years, Mrs.
Lppley, and you're still helping out there.

Donchwe,

That's right.

What position doo you have  with the library now? Yo v
secraebtary?

Still.

Well, that must be a few years now that you've been with the
library, that’s for sure.

Fifty (4¢)
My goodness.

Was the community servved by a bookpobile before the librarvy
started?
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I odon®t vemember & Dbookmobiles, do oyou Mrs. Donahoe™  Dooyou
vememnber a bookmobile?

M. We mever had one.

Yoo have to have half decent voads for  bookmobiles, Gilda,
and T don?t think we had...

Yo, Moo owe didn?t.
This novihern parct of Alberta....the country..

Okhy now we  had a book...a book edchange withe...oamong  the
schools. And we  had a grey box fthat went around from one
school to another.

! Tsn?t that interesting.
Bub it dicdn?t work out.
It didn®t™

They took  all  ow  books  from  all  the libraries, and
Fairhavern had a good one, and I stupidly sent all those
books down to Dolinton, and  then thesy put thesm  in these
boves  and  then they ©told  yous...you Eoow, your  box 18
Mere.«.and then they would ship them fto Athabasca...and how
cowld thess teachers  get them oubt in the country. You were
only supposed to keep  them thres weebks and somsbtimss  these
farmers dida’t..oyoun know, they weren’t in town and  didn’i
get the boxes. By, that didn’t work. Mind you we  had it
for bwn yvears,

Dig wou, though?
Y.,
(.

o oyou ever  getb

(=8

Two yvears of  wunadulterated frustration. o
yviouy boocks back atbt Falvhaven™?

Noe  Nevar.
O dear.
Oh noy, you wouldn®t get them back.

S omuch for bthat, eh? B0 we've had...we've had three sites
for & libvary...for the library then, eh? A far as the

Ristory of the library goes, did we?
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Mow the only....bhe county o..oonly four  years ago did  the
county ever give us a nickle.

I Tthat right? And vebt it serves 80 many people.
We served all these people and ranm the library.
How did you manage to get them to finally...?

Well, Franmk Faloomer. He got ore .. e was the  board
chalvrman.

Oy, ves,

A e gob oo,

Well,

Soobhat’s what happened there.  So they haven't supporited us

Thalt long. And then from that of course, theyfve bDeen good
supporters now.  We gebt.....Municipal Library — YE7.

Ard by that time 10 was down at the ...was that called
the County Office, down where the Liguor Btore is right
o, bhie Buperintendent used o have an office. s sw s

Mery, that was the Provincial Building.
The Provinocial Building, yves.

And we moved into the Provincial Buillding, and fthen we moved
into part of  the Community Centre, and then we moved into
the new Town Hall....

Oy I don®t remenber of all that. ITs that right?

We moved 1. .m0, we moved Trom ... from the Town  Hall there
Lo the  rmnew Town Hall, and fthen we moved to the Community
Centre. Ancd from the  Community Centre  we moved to the
Frovincial Buillding, and from therse we moved up tao where we
AY € FHIW.

When did yvou move wup here, oo you recall? .
Ny, I don®t recall just exactly when.

I kpow when I was....fivrst starbted teaching you were down atb
the Frovinolial  Buaillding, fthe ol Provincial Bullding

sbill... ] don?t konow wheno.ooI%m just brying to think...

When we moved™
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You  probably dida®t move uwuntil, of ocowrse, when they
renaovated hare.

Yes. Do you remember when that was?

I owas just trying to think when they rvenovabed. Doan’te. ..

IPve got all that down. I didn®t realize 17d be ashked.
Well. I supposs we could ook that up too, couldn®t we?

We  moved to the new Town Hall in 73530 We moved to the
Community Centre in TBL. We  moved  to the Provinoidal
Building in 70, and we moved to the new Library in P79,
Gonede Thank you

Mow wetve gobt oall that.

ALl that, great.

Did you have voluntesr assistance with the packing , or was
itwesaa?

Moy, we had a librarianm. Mrs. Mancekevill was the librarvian.
The town furnished wus  with a libravian. Now  she worked in
the town office and so when we were over in  the old one and
aver here, Mrse. Mancekevill and Mr. BEvans, and whosver  was
in the town, Mr. Mo&llum, they all....we didn’t  get that
marny books really, there wasn®t  that much business. A
then when PMrs....owhen we  moved o the Llib....to the
Comminity Centre, Mrs. Nanocekevill was then rvetiving, so
they kept her on staff and paid her.

Did they? She was a former teacher, wasn’it she™

Miv.  Bhe was a stenographer.

A stenographer.

& secrebary.

iy, Ok

Mae « ey daughter is a teacher.

Ok

Mra. REypilen.
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Ok, O, That's whalt I'm thinking of. Frere «..where Was...
T'm osbill ocurious, where was that Town Hall that you're
talking about. Whickh building is on the site now.
IH's  vight in behind. It would be ine...you kEnow, vight on
the corner was bthe manse, United Church manse....a great big

¥ b =
tall two-storey house.
Iojust...and soceceadin relabion.. ..
Berta Marbtin boarvded there.
(e Did she? My bigh school bteacher
And Mrs. Thorne  lived there, and then next to.. «.well,
right back of the post office is wherse it would be. It was
the first school.
Tw that rvight?
A became the fivst Town Hall. And itts the one that's
gdiowit Mere. ... Mre see.a Urnited Missionary marm....bought 1%

arnd vemodelled 1t into a house.

Ok I didn't know that.
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shill o stands down here.
It still stands. Ol for heavens’? sabes.

Vs,

How was the librarvy worked? Dic you have to pay a fee  to
JEAIF, O e e el ®

Yés. A& odollar. A dollay  to doin, and then 47 your books
were overdus, youw konow, a little Tine.

A little fine.
M little finme is right.

that  muckh  then is  1B7W

Well it iwnttess@asn’t LY ease
it oomly bwo o doellars, is 1ty

What is it for adults today? Is

OF T s e

]
v

I think it is.
Two dollars™

s free for anvbody over &5,
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For  seniory cibtizens. That's what I found owld today when I
want i bo pilok this up and a couple  cams in...! don’t... 1
Mave mot sesn them before...and Mrs. Enight was telling her
that it was if she.....she salid "I have to ask a very," she
didn®t say personal guestion, but she said it was  some Rind
of  a guestion, touchy guestion, and she said "&re you a
senlor citizen?" and she said ves. And so of  course, she
gave the card....

Yea, she gob the books.

Which is  anobther little perk as far as senior citizens ars
concerned. Ok, S, GHilda, maybe you have somebhing that
you o would want to o ftell us that we haven't gobt down there.
by, we  talked aboubt truancy, but I think we did talk about
that at school and which Was Very, veryae...

What that ftrue? We did talk aboubt truancy when....

We did talk about youwr students ande.. ..

Where our janitor was the truant officer.

Oh. Well, T...our janitor was....over  herve, when [ firvst
came, bthe janitor was the truant officer.  And of courss, he
wiild  be told, you koow, so-ande-so die not around, and of
oy Ee, he knew the haunts for all these psople.

OFf courses.  Bure.

They used to take off...fivst thing they did was fake off
and go down to Daign@Qu’s Rarn.

Is that right?

And they would go...boys and givls..

Girls!

I mean, not boyvs and girvls ftogether bubt the givis....

I didn?®t imagine the givls would be doing much skipping. ..

Ok Llods Bissell  and Audrey Falcoconer arnct all  these
girlas....bhey?d go down  and...bhe way they'd gelt  through,
theyd go  down to the barm and  then they could get through
ard go o oout oa back door and go down the rallvoad trvrack.

What was the point of that? Just to be somswhers.
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Well, to get away.
Just bto get away.  And not be anywhere near the houses.

And of  course, When they went down  the vallvoad track they
cowlo come to the swimming pool.

Swimming hole. Yes.

At bhen with  Little kids, of ocourss, the fruant officer
wiould rownd them up.

Yewm,  Good heavens. What would the prinmcipal do? What..o.o 1
think I remsmber Gene saving somebthing onoe I think if
¥ = = ¥ ¥
kids, at least in high school, they skipped, they....I don’t
ko 4f They got two or three chances, bubt T think aboub bhe
thivd time or somebhing, they had too...you had o appear
=y
Before the Supsrintendent with your parent.

Yes.,  And a board of....s80me kind of a boavd, rvight.

And vour parent, one of the parvents had to be bthere. O
Both maybe, just the father, I fthink at that time. And youw
had to be reinstated and you couldn®t go back until you were

reinstated.

That’s right. Ard then they had trouble with  the busses.
Mow, 1ittle Paul Favoluk was driving the bus.

That’s my cousin she’s ftalking about now.
Ancd, s, the parents werve complaining bthat they were alwavys
late gebbting homs. And so, they wenbt....Mr. Hodgeson gob

these complaints, and Mr. Hodgesson went bto litdtle Paul and,
little Paul was supposed to be playving pool.

And little FPaul  said "Well, T have to walt for the girls.
They?re all shopping.”

I thought he was playing pool?

And 1t wasn't the girvls ab all.... it wasn't Little Paul at
all.

Ok, it wasn®t!
O, =so Mr. Hodgeson, he reallye...

{hy, I thought maybe the boys did play a little pool.
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Ol yes, bthey played pool, but what are yvou going to do when
yvoulre waiting for these givls fTo.o.e..

And the givls were shopping?

You kaow, o primp up and get their haly done and.eee e
Mz It wasn't anything that was.....

Farade up and down the streebts.

<

There wasn't necessary for  the parents. I fthought maybe
they did some shopping for the parents or somebthing.

Well, maybe they...they may have done a littls bubt then they
ahould  have beesn  down there. Bub little Faul would tell
about how  he¥d been down  thers with  the bus and  ...and
nobody there. 0Oh yes, they used to play pool, but that was
in school..

During school bours.

That wasn'it bus drviviange..and Jim Woods  was the principal
arnd e wused tous... e awhen school would call.o...if these kids
were missing he’d just walk right down.

Dovern, MHe bnew exactly whers bo go.

T the pool vroom and maroh them back.

Oy my goodness.

They didn’t do that too many bimes.

Jim Wood was the principal?

Moy . He was the teacher.

Teacher. Yes, ves. That's right.

i

He must have been vice-principal, or....well, anyway, he was
always bthe one who went after them.

i)

Did he? He was  wvery dedicabed. Very  good besacher.
Eucellent teacher. I vemember him.

T

Were there...? When did the ages resbrichtion for schooling
come inT I don't osuppose they could  have been at 16 from
the veary beginning?

You mean the age at which ftThey had to attend sohool?
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They could guit, ves.
Yam.a It was 16, I obkhink it was, as far as I vemember
¥

Always at the back of the registers 1t seemed, foe
they had the little rules there thabt....

Yes, [ bthink it was frowm & bto L&,

To 16, Right.

ey
Y

YEATE,

What would happen  if....school gave oub? If they were in

grade 7 and they ocouldn®t go any furibher?
Well often btimes people did guit.

Well, of courss, that happened and they. ..
Dertainly

Bub there was nothing they could do.
Mothing. They didn®t do anyibhing.

If the school wasn®t there you couldn®t attend.  And i
couldn®t afford to send them ABWAY. ...

f they

Sometimes  they couldn®™t afford  or needed them. ... bhey wers

needed at home. . oyou know, children often...
And of couwrse, bthey were...bthey were veally needed at

Certainly

FUOEs s .

Ard of  course, one thing about 1t dm those days,  when you

got to grads 8, you had & pretiy good fouwndation.
Fretty good foundation.

Youd Bnow, you didn’t bhave all these frills.
That's right.

Yod gobt down bTo business all that time.

Yem,  That's true.

Wasn®t...wasn™t much fun.

Mo There was really nothing  done.  And I don't...at
time we weren’lt even gebbting family allowances. Afbter

that

thea.
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After the family allowances came in, you see, Gthey always
had that hold over  you.  They sald if, 1§ your childs  was
rot attending regularily.ee. .

O yes., They ocould...

Then the family allowance would be culb.

Yes. That's vight. But....

Before that they veally..! think the ftimes were such  that
they understood and...and parents did  what fthey ocould ta

send the kids and the kids were an@ious B ...

Imagine mno family allowancs.  MNow bthat must bhave been rveally
tough.

Ok T guess S0,

A these people fthat ralsed these big families with noo...

Sure bhey did, they were big families in those davys.
With rno...n0 help at all.
That?s right. Yes. All right. What else do we wanbt bo

Ea}’.:"

You mentioned  that the library got assistance  from  the
Masons and the Elks, were there chapters operating in ...in
Athabasca? Are they still here?

The Elks aren’t, bubt all the vest are. They're sbtill here.
Masons too?

The Masons and the Btar and the Royal Purple.

And of course, now welve gob.a.

Arnd the Legion, and the Hinettes, and Einsmen.

Wefve gobt the Hinsmen.

We never gobt any donations from them, bubt fthen we didn’t ask

because LThey wers newsy Coming in.

That’s ftrue. We had a note herve about the talent show  at
the park....at Parker’s Hall. We had, I think, mentioned it
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oo e o bhe obher tape. That....that was an ongoing thing
for many years.

Oy & talent show!  Well there....the Elks pult that on.
Did tThey?
It was an Elks Talent Bhow.

You wouldn®t remember the firvst time that Unole Hal ooame i
Athabasca by any chanoe?

Urimle Haleo.woro, but those were back in the ...

Latse "30s, early 7405 again, 1711 betb.

Tt would be the 40w,

Pafs, el And  he...what station...which radio station  did
e have a program o bthat wee...all used o listen to that?
Was that CJCAT

Yewm.,  Ih owould be OJ0A,

All right.

Mo, I ag DL O T e e e W M BN O Incle Hal ow e wasn®t
Mo. It wasn®t Ri NI Unole Hal, now he wasn®t
the one from....ono, T okanow wha 18 is.

Ha e bo comme and, EVETY  YEET, and  for e b
Deforehand..c.and T'm sure Mrs.  Appleby, again, had a hand
i &ll this talent around here....and gebiting students and
pecple prepared.

SGebtbing them all rveady.

Mow what kind of things would. . owhat kind of J..07F
Everything. It was just a ftalent show., They could. .. they
could recite, they ocould sing, bthey could play & musiocal

instrument, they ocould dance.

Dance. It wasn®t just  individual. Therse wers Soms
CIF LA . W G O ?

Yes., Hecause I can remember Manoy teaching Buzanne  Godel
and the Armstrong givl....

Yes., Delphine, nobt Delphine.

Delohine. ..
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T owas the older givl. What was her name?
arnd that Fowler givi.

Lorna.

Lovma Fowler. Teaching them to do fhis danoce.
h sure.

Arc they came Trom all over.

Did Mrs. Appleby teach them btap dancing?

Ol yves.

I was just golng to a...where oid these givis learn to tap
dance, Decause we did have girls doing tap danoing.

Well, she...she learned that in Camrose.
Did she™

Well, she could doo..you Bnow, she really Was.......shse was
w0 talented that....

She was very btalenbed.
And  she couldn®t wderstand  anvbody tThat couldn®t pick up

thely feset and doo 1o, Iowas one. Yem, @he WasS....S50e Was
the big...big wheel in that....gebting the....

At then  fthey...theyoo. D don®t even vemember what...whatb
¥

vear bhat was the last performance we ever had herve in town.

Iogust....

Oy now. I owonder 1f youwve thinking of fhe OFREN fthat came.
Ok Tt omust have besn CFEN that sponsored that.

Ve, DFENM. Bub then the Elks sponsored a...a talent show.
Ard that  was the one...wsll Manoy had  something to do o with
otk of them.

With both of them. Yem,  Did we...odid theye..oothey used to
pick winners - firset, second and Lthirvd, maybe in each...in
certaln catagories, and then those....

Went bto anobhery ...

Feople would go to anobhsr.
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Vil They  would get. ... from sackh, commuanity they  would have one
bBig one. It was on the aiv, was 1t pob™

ABD: Wasn®t there a girvl from Boyle who became. ... ?

Vi Yes.  Thalt was the Glorie Kay that we had mentioned befors

¥

I think, that won one year. I guess had done very well... 1

faven®t  heard too o muckh about her lately. b ool odd
days, GHilda.

AR Yes, rvight. The good,  old days. She's listening to all

Vit And the morney odid go for orvippled ohildren, wasn’t 1t7

ARD: That ... bthat money there went for orippled ohildren, and the
cbher went for work... I think it was for children that were
urderprivileged, didn®t have glasses and fthings like that.

Wis s that rvight? dNow, when you talk about this  obther talent
show, mow, IPm onob swre just what...obhat was put on by

Athabasca people.

AED: Yes.  And people came  from Boyle and  all around. Mow I
think it was on befove...before those people Came.

Vil Ta that vight?

ABD: Becauwse I can rvememnber the little Lodiselles boy rvecelving an
award.,  Bomebody had a piocture of him.

VR Boo bhat was nothing like a concert. It was just a talent
BT It was nobthing to do with school or...

ABD: Just a ftalent show.

Wil It wasn®t really school spomsored oy anything?

ABD: Ok, no. Nothing o do with school.  Nothing to do withee.s e
Ve I dontt vreceeaas

ABD: You just entered whether youoe...you know, 47 you wanbed to.
Vil Is  that right? [} o Arnything else, o anybthing  you Can

think of Mrs. Donahue? We have a  few minutes left on  the
tape, I think.

i
se

Doooyow have any  ddea when the Elks  and the Masons and  the
Eastern Btar first started here?
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Well, the Masoms started away back in 9LE, I think. Fapid
then the Elks didn®™t start until..in the '40s.

. That was much later then, eh? And Eastern Star. You
cid have Easbtern Btar?

Eastern Star. At the Masorms wers herve away back in 1312
All those vears. Ard there was a group of Oddiellows, i

think, at one time, and Rebecoas.

Y, And Rebeooas? didn®t.. .l vemember reading about
Oddfellows ine...in the old Eohos.,

foves.  Bub they didn't....vou krnow, they weren®t too Long.
Too long, eh? Yes,

Al then, after them, the Elks came. Well, there was a need
for somebthing for community work.  Like  the Masons and the
Fastern Star arve just for thely Owne....

Ok, thelr own.

Their own.

Organizatiom.

And w0 bhere was  this  great need in the oommunity for
somebody to get out and do something to help people. Ard
thab?s whern the.. ..

I oknow  what I was godlng to ask  you. Towas going  boogo
further in Red Cross and when  you fivst began. That must

have started....did wyou start....were  you involved in Red
Cross befors youw ever cams here?

Way back.

Your Rave a long history with Fed Oross.
Way back in New Norway.

Ok Did youw?  Did you?

In Fed Willow, too.

Hoow about as a student™

4o

Moo We didn’t geba....

T 2l

There was o F

then, sh?



ABRD:

VE:

MR

Vi

AEBRD:

D

AED

ARD:

AED:

HRDs

Vi

ABD:

SED:

W

AEDe

yie)

N, Mo We dide’t have 1%, There was no Fed Cross. Bub
whiern 1 wwwaldy  the time I started Tt teach 1t was
Just....just & little bit.

i

How did that start? HMow did you.s..how did  that all stard?
What did  you fivsbt...bhow did youw fivrst  geb involved in 1587
D oyouw vemenber how?

Welloos fivst gobt dnvolved in it was actually....

Somebody came and. ..

Was  in Mew Morway...well yes...Herman....Miss Herman was
from Tamvose. And she came oub and gob wus starbted.

Did she?

But ines..in Stebtler, I guess it was just through  word of
moith and things that we had 1ittle Fed Dross dos.

Because Miss Herman was one of the ladies that was at Lake
Edith in Jasper when....when the town sent me.

Yog weryse bthe firvst one to go.
To that ..
T that camp.

LT .

T learn  about
ovgarnizing Red Oros

Cross, I remember  ooming  inoand
haere at bthe high sobhool.

Ao Vi owas a membey of the Red Oross as a Little givl.

Yes we were bDecause we had.....

Mrs. Govrman’s

Y. And June  LaPorte had it, T think. Yews  she did.
SBou..anyway, you  sbarbted in MNMew Novway  and then  you came
Frerve and you weve very active in Fed Oross here.

Well ves, bsoause here....it became bto gelb...warbime.

Yes. And so a real need for it.

o

And then  so you bhad,  you know, o youw had o get o owbt o an

collect.
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Tell us some of  the things you did., Ernibtting....did you do
kritting? Colleschbing...

Okl no. Iodidn®t do any of that. I did all the foob work.
Your got peoples organized. Foob work.  AlL right. Tell us.
did all the collecting.

Organizing.

Aol ..

Your had actually an ovganization, dida®t you®

Yes.

bere you president?

Moy, mio. I wasn®t president. PMr. Evans was president.
Secrebary? Mr. Evans.

Yes, he was president.

He was oy Justice of the Feace for awhile, wasn’t he?

1

Y, He  and Mr. Evans...he  and Mr. Falooney...but bhen,
they always  had me to do thes ... odo the leg work  for them.
Angd bhen we mad an TODE. Independent Order of the Daughters
of the Empirve.

Al bhey  were. ... bhey  were grealt workers  dn that RBed
Cross...in bthe work of the REed....nob the Red Oross,  bub in
wWar wor k.

I way work.  Bub you  were...so what kinds of things  would
vioid have done™ O students?  You gobt thab....now Thern. . . you
got students involved. Mot only.eseseseas well as community.

Yo . But well, the students....the first that I got the
students involved was Milk for Brit@an.

Milk for Britdén
Milk for Britdn and Jobmny Will was the ohidlef manm there.

Mat would you do?
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They went  around....bhey put jars  around
and. . .and Milk for Britddn.

Andd people would just drop thely CO0InS. ..
Drop in the money and we gob guite a bit of money.

Yourf o collect every so ofbten™

Yo, Fick 1t up svery so often  and then from that we went
T weewee.wWe went back to teas.

Y, Thats vight. REaising money o send to the orvipplsed
children’s hospital and o doo.ohelp with the war work.

Al later on  as a studen W s o omake guilts  and
I know, lat student, d t k L ol
rafils themn. I guesss that was for Fed Oross.  We.. ..

That was the high school.

Stitohed diapers.

Yol were in the high sohool.

We did some of that at Big Coulee.
Ok, did you?

A we'd send. ... it was  oa funde-raising deal...cand bthen we
sent the money because we felid that, well;, they'd reed the
morey more o, but I ogusss here..owell,  we even collected
toys. I remember we redid btoys. Aricd vepainted them  and
fiwed themn. The boys would fix them and  then we sent them
oo the ovippled children’s hospiftal. We collected money.
We hemmed diapers.  We....my goodness...what slse did we do?

Sorowow odid oa lob of fhat.

We did a 1ot of thatb.

od

Youd ses, [ missed oub on all that because
thes .

WEE SL W Y& D

The organizational part of it...
Yes., GHebtbing the money.

But you were always  involved with theo .o Tor SO0 many. .. you
must have many years in Red Cross. My goodness.
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Well, it would be...owsell, ever since T....started tTo beach.

Started teaching.

oo odbTs rveally  somebhing and To..1 0 jJust bthis  year, Tve
said, well, I'm nobt goding o do any more.

Yo smes, o, Mrass Donabhue, for years, has  also Deen
organizing peopls 10 the community o againg further
collect., Like Ifwve been going...was collecting while I was
in Elementary...youbve golb people in the community.

But I had good henchoen and that's why.  You can®t just oo
o asking them  forever, so I just  told them  that they’d
betbter ftry o get somebody else.

Ts that right? Well, youPve certainly done yvour parb...

o y Y F
mwswwnawa ALl vight, Gilda, this last little idea. Y,
Lell us aboub your vole,
The churaoh?™  Well, when I was teaching, T really didn’t take
part because $'d slesp in on Satuwrday, on  Sunday mornings,
o Iowasn®t very active. You krnow, T owould attend all their
affairs. But  vouw o koow, since DPve retirved [Pve bDeen
attending. ..
More sovf
Yes, regularily. But prior to that I wasn’t too active.

I krnow what youfre btalking about.

Yo krnow, o can get  so dnvolved  dn ather  things
that.. .working five, six days a week and...
2 ¥

United

&

Boy, did o oyou take on any positions as far  as bl
Churoh onoce you vebived?

My no.

Youu cdidn®t, eh?

Mewver. Moy Ddidn®t in the Lodge. I belonged there...the

Foyal Fuarple. 'm historian, but that's all. You kEnow L,
¥ ¥

Just...youw geb. o .you just ged bogged down, thatfs it.

There’s only =0 much you can do.

That’s rvight. aAnd of course, teaching was...was my 1ife. I

i !

o
mear, [ never...l never rvemember a day that I wished that
weren’t teaching.

fomt
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Isn®t that something?

And every day was & nsw beginming. I ocowldn®t walt until I
got back to school to find oube...all about school.

You know,  you should...it would be nice  to have a reunion,
Mrs. Donahde, you  should have  had one  and had  all those
students come bDack.

Wouldn®t that be somebthing.

Wouldn?t it ever? 1 imagine there are soms famius ones.

Well, some of them have ended up all  right. Like Jamie
Wright 18 a....8 well-known physician in Vanoouver.

Dich your teackh John Godel™
John Godel.  Another...well he's a very brilliant ...
I that ever a brilliant boy? Yes.

Mira I didn’t teach John Godel, sorvy,  nog I didn’t.
Hut
p- % u onon

Faul Pouhatoh.
Waell, those were the two.  They called them the professors.
The professors.

aught Dale Leahy, who is &

Yes., They were the smarb... .l ©
I think it is.

professor now Ln.. . HKingston,
I he®

Iz he in Fingston, or Obtawa?

My, I'm osurse there must De...

Oy there must be move famous ones.

I'm sure there are some famous ones.

Well, one girvlie went on o be a doocbor dn New York. That
WAE YEeAR©T S &0, '

I that vight?
She died guite young foo.

Who was she?
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She was 8...8 Wkvanian girl.

Ohy I711 bet youlre thinmking of..dis 1t%...
Dooctor Florenoe Grant.

Ok I was thinking of & Wolanuk givl who was. .. .sta =

3

5

bake some medical training. Iodon?t koow L7 she en L
being & nurse. 't was Victor Wolanuk?s older sister.

Is that vight?

e had some stories  to tell, thalt poov givl. Iomean, ball
about pooy families. I Ehink  she ftalked aboub....or

gomebody told me A story  abould her going to scohool wiith
Ctiea. « «one of her dad?s sock and one other kind...nob 3
matohing pair, and bthey were so poor and the parvents
warnbted her fto get through and. . anyway.

ITan’t that something?
Some of those peopls could fell stories, I tell wywou.

Yem, bThey?re bthe ones that should be omf tape, and get their

mbor L esn,

Am owell, as well. Too bad we dicdn?t geldt someone like George

FEyoa. Me did a lobt of writing but s b owould have  been
b f:

interesting to have..I think his books are still available.

Over acvoss the river?

O mioa Theyfve Deen in B, bub we're gebtting away... OE,
Hilda, Camn we btis bthis up? Has fthat besn. ...

Yes. Well, anyway, thatts been very, very good and....
The end.

That’s the end of it, di= 1%7



